
 

 

 

 
Three Rivers House 

Northway 
Rickmansworth 
Herts WD3 1RL 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
NOTICE AND AGENDA 

 
For a meeting to be held in the Penn Chamber, Three Rivers House, Northway, Rickmansworth on 
Wednesday, 12 June 2024 at 7.30 pm. 
 
Members of the Committee:- 
 
Councillors: 
 

 

Harry Davies (Chair) Tony Humphreys (Vice-Chair) 
Stephen Cox 
Raj Khiroya 
Sarah Nelmes 
Ciaran Reed 
Rue Grewal 
 

Andrea Fraser 
Andrew Scarth 
David Major 
Narinder Sian 
 

  

Joanne Wagstaffe, Chief Executive   
Wednesday, 5 June 2024 

 

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public on agenda items at the 
Licensing Committee meetings. Details of the procedure are provided below: 
 
For those wishing to speak: 
Members of the public are entitled to register and identify which item(s) they wish to speak on 
from the published agenda for the meeting.  Those who wish to register to speak are asked to 
register on the night of the meeting from 7pm.  Please note that contributions will be limited to 
one person speaking for and one against each item for not more than three minutes. 
  
In the event of registering your interest to speak on an agenda item but not taking up that right 
because the item is deferred, you will be given the right to speak on that item at the next meeting 
of the Committee. 
 
Those wishing to observe the meeting are requested to arrive from 7pm. 
 
In accordance with The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 any matters 
considered under Part I business only of the meeting may be filmed, recorded, photographed, 
broadcast or reported via social media by any person. 
 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of 
those doing the recording and reporting to ensure compliance.  This will include the Human 
Rights Act, the Data Protection Legislation and the laws of libel and defamation. 
 

 

 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

2.   MINUTES 
 
To confirm, as being a correct record, the minutes of the Licensing 
Committee meeting held on 14 June 2023. 
 

(Pages 5 
- 6) 

3.   URGENT BUSINESS 
 
Items of other business notified under Council Procedure Rule 30 to be 
announced, together with the special circumstances that justify their 
consideration as a matter of urgency. The Chair to rule on the admission of 
such items. 
 

 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 

 

5.   REVIEW OF GAMBLING POLICY ‘STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 2025 TO 
2028’ 
 
The review of the ‘Statement of Gambling Principles and Policy (hereafter 
referred to as “the Policy”) is required at least every 3 years, as set out within 
Section 349 of The Gambling Act 2005 (“the Act”). 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that Members agree to Option 1: 
 

I. Consider the revised Policy found at Appendix B (this is a tracked 
document highlighting the amendments made to the current policy). 

II. Consider whether to include a proposed ‘No Casino Resolution’ as 
part of the Policy consultation and seek wider opinion on the granting 
of such a resolution. 

III. Commence a six-week public consultation process on the revised 
Policy and any potential ‘No Casino Resolution’. 

IV. Any response(s) to be circulated to all members of the committee with 
an officer response. The Head of Regulatory Services, in conjunction 
with the Lead Member, will then use her discretion following any 
response(s) received to conclude whether the amended Policy 
attached to this report can be adopted by Full Council or return to a 
future Licensing Committee. 

V. Consider adding a further review of the Policy to the Licensing 
Committee work programme in early 2025, subject to 
guidance/legislation changes 

 

(Pages 7 
- 140) 

6.   WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To agree the work programme. 
 

(Pages 
141 - 
142) 

7.   OTHER BUSINESS - If approved under item 3 above   
 

 

8.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
 If the Committee wishes to consider the remaining item in 

private, it will be appropriate for a resolution to be passed in 
the following terms:- 

 

 “that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 

 

Page 2



 

 

the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined under 
paragraph X of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act. It has been 
decided by the Council that in all the circumstances, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.” 

 

 (Note:  If other confidential business is approved under 
item 3, it will also be necessary to specify the class of exempt 
or confidential information in the additional items.) 

 
 
 

General Enquiries: Please contact the Committee Team at 
committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

mailto:committeeteam@threerivers.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

THREE RIVERS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

At a meeting of the Licensing Committee held in the Penn Chamber, Three Rivers House, 
Rickmansworth, on Wednesday, 14 June 2023 from 7.30 - 8.00 pm 
 
Present:  
Councillors: 
Roger Seabourne (Chair) 
Tony Humphreys (Vice Chair) 
Stephen Cox 
David Coltman 
Ian Morris 
Narinder Sian 
 
Also in Attendance: 
Sarah Haythorpe  
Anita Hibbs 
 
Officers in Attendance: 
 
Lorna Fryer 
Matthew Roberts 
 
LI1/23 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Raj Khiroya, Matthew Bedford, Ciaran Reed, David 
Major and Andrew Scarth. 
 

LI2/23 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting held on 29 June 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair of the meeting. 
 

LI3/23 NOTICE OF OTHER BUSINESS  
 
There were no items of other business. 
 

LI4/23 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None received. 
 

LI5/23 WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Team Leader of Development Management advised that this was discussed in June 2022 
to consider whether a Cumulative Impact Policy was required. Officers were first asked in 
2021 to draft a report on the basis of whether there was a need for a Cumulative Impact 
Assessment in order to create a Cumulative Impact Policy. As we were just emerging from the 
pandemic, and there had been no significant concentrations of complaints from a specific 
locality of the District, in respect of licenced premises, officers felt that it wasn’t required. This 
has not changed and there is nothing at present that suggests an assessment is needed. 
 
The Lead Licensing Officer provided an update on two recent cautions that were issued to two 
licence holders within the District for breaches to their premises licence, and those had been 
accepted and added to their PNC records. A multi-agency visit was carried out on 14 June to 
off-licences and vape stores within the District. Officers visited 23 separate premises, 5 of 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

which there were goods seized. As a result, there could be further actions taken. Officers 
continue to work in partnership with the Police and Trading Standards.  
 
There is a licensed premises where there is an ongoing investigation since September 2022, 
and a further update is going to be provided once a review has been completed. 
 
There are other ways of obtaining intelligence on a premises which includes from officers, by 
the Police and Environmental Health. Trading Standards; are going to be taking “tobacco 
dogs” back into the premises to investigate to see if anything else is found. The report then will 
come back to officers.  

 
A Licensing update on hearings and training held during the year is provided annually in the 
MIB  
 
The Statement of Licensing Policy is in effect until February 2026, and the Gambling Policy is 
in effect until January 2025, officers are aware they need to be reviewed well in advance. 
There is a requirement from the legislation for review every 5 years and it is recommended by 
the officers that the Statement of Licensing Policy is reviewed and brought to the June 2025 
meeting, and the Gambling Policy be brought to the June 2024 meeting. The review dates 
may change, depending on the legislation; if there are changes, the policies will need to be 
reviewed sooner. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the comments be noted, and the amendments be included in the work programme.  
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 6



 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

Review of Gambling Policy ‘Statement of Principles 2025 to 2028’ 

Gambling Act 2005 

 

Three Rivers District Council 
 

June 2024  

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

Report Originator Head of Service sponsor Date Originated 

Lorna Fryer Kimberley Rowley 16 May 2024 

   

Lead Member Name:  Area of Responsibility: 

 
 

CMT Date: 28 May 2024 

JLT Date (if applicable):  10 June 2024 

REASON FOR REPORT 

Reason JLT/CMT Feedback for Officer and further 
instructions 

 

Recommendation to 
JLT/CMT: 

   

Review of Gambling 
Policy – Committee 
approval required  

   

PROPOSED ROUTE FOR FURTHER APPROVAL 

 Date 

Licensing Committee 12 June 2024 

Council (if required) 22 October 2024 

 
LICENSING COMMITTEE – 12 JUNE 2024 

 

Review of Statement of Gambling Principles and  Policy 

(DoF) 

PART I  

1 Summary 

1.1 The review of the ‘Statement of Gambling Principles and Policy (hereafter 
referred to as “the Policy”) is required at least every 3 years, as set out within 
Section 349 of The Gambling Act 2005 (“the Act”).  

1.2 The current policy (Appendix A) was amended in 2021, came into force on 14 
January 2022 and can be used by Officers when exercising their functions under 
the Act until 13 January 2025.  

1.3 This report seeks to consult members of the Committee on the revised draft 
Policy, in which minor variations are sought, after which a consultation exercise 
is proposed to follow.  

1.4 It is also considered that the Council re-consider whether it should continue to 
put in place a ‘No Casino Resolution’, and if so, include this as part of any 
consultation exercise. In 2021, the No Casino Resolution was removed. 

Page 8



 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

1.5 The feedback received as a result of the consultation exercise will then be 
considered by a future Licensing Committee (or the Lead Member in conjunction 
with the Head of Regulatory Services), prior to a recommendation being made 
for its formal adoption by Full Council, prior to January 2025. 

1.6 The Policy must come into force by 14 January 2025 otherwise the Council will 
be unable to exercise its function under the Act.  

2 Details 

2.1 The Gambling Act 2005, which fully came into force on 1 September 2007 
introduced a new regime for commercial gambling to be conducted by the 
Gambling Commission and by Licensing Authorities depending on the matter to 
be licensed.  

2.2 In exercising its functions under the Act the Council must have regard to the 
three licensing objectives which are set out in Section 1 of the Act, namely:  

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and  

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

2.3 Under the Act (section 349) it states that a Licensing Authority shall, before each 
period of three years, prepare and publish a Statement of Principles. The Policy 
forms the Licensing Authority’s mandate for managing local gambling provision 
(evidence led) and sets out how the Licensing Authority views the local risk 
environment. The Policy is considered the primary vehicle for setting out the 
Licensing Authority’s approach to regulation having taken into account local 
circumstances, by ensuring that operators have sufficient awareness and 
understanding of the relevant Licensing Authority’s requirements and approach.   

2.4 The Gambling Commission guidance states that Licensing Authorities can 
complete their own assessment of the local environment as a means of mapping 
out local areas of concern. These assessments are known as a local area profile 
(LAP) which can be introduced at any time. 

2.5 Within Three Rivers there are currently only 7 betting shops; 2 in South Oxhey, 
2 in Rickmansworth, 2 in Abbots Langley and 1 in Croxley Green. On the basis 
that no concerns have been raised it is not considered necessary to introduce 
a LAP at this current time.  

3 Advice to Licensing Authorities and Gambling Act Review 

3.1 Since the last review in 2021, there have been revisions to the Gambling 
Commission’s guidance to Local Authorities (April 2023), highlighted below. 
However, there were no major changes in advice which needs to be considered 
as part of this review. 

3.2 In April 2023 the Government produced a White Paper ‘High stakes: gambling 
reform for the digital age 1 on the basis that smartphones had “transformed” 
gambling. The Secretary of State said the White Paper would update gambling 
rules and regulations to “protect the most vulnerable while also allowing 

                                                
1 High stakes: gambling reform for the digital age - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 9

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age


 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

everyone else to enjoy gambling without harm”. It sets out proposals for reform 
in six areas: 

- Online gambling 

- Marketing and advertising 

- The Gambling Commission’s powers and resources  

- Dispute resolution and consumer redress 

- Children and young adults 

- Land-based gambling 

3.3 Whilst the reform proposals are not all necessarily relevant to the subject to this 
Policy review, a link has been provided below to enable members the ability to 
broaden their understanding of the Government’s current objectives relating to 
gambling. 

3.4 On 15 April 2024, the Commission issued guidance to local authorities advising 
that each licensing authority is required to renew their Statement of Licensing 
Policy every 3 years, with the renewal date in this current cycle January 2025. 
The Commission also stated: 

“Given the ongoing consultations regarding the Gambling Act it is very 
unlikely that we will be able to amend the Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
document in sufficient time for you to incorporate changes within your own 
Statement.  
 
"Whilst it is a matter for local determination, we suggest that the Statement 
is refreshed in line with the requirements of the Act so as to be enforceable 
from January 2025. Thereafter we will publish a revised GLA which you can 
include in a refreshed Statement. You are permitted to revise your 
Statement within the 3-year timescale.” 
 

3.5 Whilst the Policy has been reviewed by officers, no significant guidance or 
legislation changes have occurred since the previous review. Based on the 
recent guidance from the Commission it would appear that the Policy may need 
to be reviewed again, post January 2025 to incorporate any new changes to 
guidance and legislation and this should be added to the work programme to 
consider in early 2025. 

3.6 Notwithstanding the above, the revised Policy puts forward the following 
suggested changes: 

- Change to population data 

- Removing COVID 19 regulations 

- Minor formatting and grammatical changes  

- Addition of Batchworth Community Council to consultation list 

 

4 No Casino Resolution  

Page 10



 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

4.1 Under section 166 of the Act a licensing authority may resolve not to issue 
casino premises licences. The previous resolution was originally passed in 
October 2006 and was subsequently removed in 2021. 

4.2 The resolution may only be taken by the authority as a whole and cannot be 
delegated to the Licensing Committee. Where a resolution is passed it must be 
published by the authority in its three-year Statement of Gambling Principles. It 
can also be for any person or organisation to challenge a no casinos resolution.  

4.3 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance cites that if passed a resolution “must 
apply to casino premises generally, so that the authority cannot limit its effect to 
geographic areas or categories of casinos. The resolution must specify the date 
it comes into effect. The authority may revoke the resolution by passing a 
counter-resolution (again the whole authority must pass that resolution). The 
resolution will lapse after three years so, should the licensing authority wish to 
keep the policy in place, they should pass a resolution every three years.” 

4.4 In passing such a resolution the authority may consider any relevant principles 
or matters, not just the licensing objectives. In the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Local Authorities, it notes that “licensing authorities should be 
aware that other considerations such as moral or ethical objections to gambling 
are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises licences. In deciding 
to reject an application, a licensing authority should rely on reasons that 
demonstrate that the licensing objectives are not being, or are unlikely to be, 
met, and such objections do not relate to the licensing objectives. An authority’s 
decision cannot be based on dislike of gambling, or a general notion that it is 
undesirable to allow gambling premises in an area (with the exception of the 
casino resolution powers).” Thus, in passing a resolution it would seem that a 
wide range of opinion may be considered. 

4.5 The House of Lords Select Committee report recommended in 2020 that 
casinos should be regulated under the same system regardless of when their 
licence was created. The above White Paper details that the size of Britain’s 
land-based casino sector has remained relatively flat in recent years, in contrast 
to an expanding online market. The number of active licensed premises 
increased from 148 (2015) to 156 (2020), but the impact of COVID-19 resulted 
in a number of permanent closures (active licensed premises were 144 in 2022). 
In 2021/22 (the most recent full year), online casino gross gambling yield was 
more than five times that of land-based casinos. 

4.6 By an Order in 2008 the Secretary of State provided which authorities would be 
permitted to issue the limited number of casino licences, Three Rivers District 
Council was not one of these and applicants are prohibited from applying for a 
new casino licence to this authority. 

4.7 Whilst the Secretary of State can increase the number of Casino Licences 
available by way of Order then, so long as this Authority did not bid for such 
additional licences and was not prescribed by an Order as an authority which 
could grant such licences, applicants would remain prohibited from making 
Casino applications to the Council unless there was an amendment to the 
Gambling Act itself. Consequently, there is currently no legal possibility of a 
licensed casino in Three Rivers. It is however possible that this position could 
change in the future and there are other Councils with No Casino Resolutions 
in place for this very reason. None of this of course prevents the Council making 
a new No Casino Resolution in the future if thought necessary but it is not 
recommended to re-introduce a No Casinos policy at this time. 

Page 11



 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

5 Consultation 

5.1 A public consultation is required as part of the review process and will take place 
for 6 weeks if agreed, in line with the requirements set out within section 349(3) 
of the Act. 

5.2 The consultation will include the following: 

- A press notice will be displayed within the Watford Observer  

- Consult the chief officer of police for the authority’s area  

- One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests 
of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area; and 

- One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests 
of person who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s 
functions under this Act  

- All premises in TRDC with a licence/permit issued under the Gambling Act 

- Draft revised Policy will be published on the Council’s website and circulated 
via social media platforms.  

5.3 A full list of the consultees is set out within Appendix 1 of the revised Policy. 

6 Options and Reasons for Recommendations 

6.1 There are 3 options available for Members: 

Option 1:  

a) Consider the revised Policy found at Appendix B (this is a tracked 
document highlighting the amendments made to the current policy). 

b) Consider whether to include a proposed ‘No Casino Resolution’ as part of 
the Policy consultation and seek wider opinion on the granting of such a 
resolution. 

c) Commence a six-week public consultation process on the revised Policy 
and any potential No Casino Resolution. 

d) Any response(s) to be circulated to all members of the committee with an 
officer response. The Head of Regulatory Services, in conjunction with the 
Lead Member, will then use her discretion following any response(s) 
received to conclude whether the amended Policy attached to this report 
can be adopted by Full Council or return to a Licensing Committee. 

e) Consider adding a further review of the Policy to the Licensing Committee 
work programme in early 2025, subject to guidance/legislation changes. 

Option 2:  

To delay any consultation of the Policy until relevant guidance has been 
updated with the Policy presented to a future Licensing Committee later in the 
year (see implications at section 10). 

Option 3: 

Page 12



 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

 Not to agree the minor amendments nor consider a “No Casino Resolution”. 
(see implications at section 10). 

7 Policy/Budget Reference and Implications 

7.1 The recommendations in this report are within the Council’s agreed policy and 
budgets. Costs associated with the consultation have been subsumed within 
existing licensing budgets.  

8 Equal Opportunities Implications 

8.1 An EQIA was completed and impacts to be mitigated through policy adoption. 

9 Impact Assessment 

9.1 There is no detrimental impact likely towards any protected group from 
introducing the Policy.   

10 Legal Implications  

10.1 The Act must be adhered to in this process as well as reference to the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities. 

10.2 If the draft Statement of Policy is not brought in to force in the time scales 
outlined above, the Council will not have a policy to work to under the Act. A 
Statement of Policy sets out the principles of the Council and its expectations in 
respect of applications and representations made in respect of those 
applications. The Policy gives general information on how the licensing process 
will be carried out and indicates the expectations of the Council in assisting it to 
make its judgements on individual applications, and in carrying out its 
enforcement role. The policy is therefore vital in the Council’s exercise of its 
powers under the Act. 

10.3 Option 2 and 3 have legal implications in that the Council may not be able to 
adopt the Policy prior to the current policy expiring. 

11 Financial Implications  

11.1 None specific. 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 None specific.  

13 Public Health implications 

13.1 None Specific. 

14 Customer Services Centre Implications 

14.1 CSC staff will be made aware of the Policy once it comes into force. 

15 Communications and Website Implications 

15.1 If agreed the Policy will be displayed on the TRDC website and will be published 
via TRDC social media platforms.  

16 Risk and Health & Safety Implications 

Page 13

https://beta.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities/gla-part-1-general-guidance-on-the-role-and-responsibilities-of-licensing
https://beta.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities/gla-part-1-general-guidance-on-the-role-and-responsibilities-of-licensing


 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

16.1 The Council has agreed its risk management strategy which can be found on 
the website at http://www.threerivers.gov.uk. In addition, the risks of the 
proposals in the report have also been assessed against the Council’s duties 
under Health and Safety legislation relating to employees, visitors and persons 
affected by our operations.  The risk management implications of this report are 
detailed below. 

16.2 The subject of this report is covered by the Regulatory Service Plan. Any risks 
resulting from this report will be included in the risk register and, if necessary, 
managed within this/these plan(s). 

Nature of 
Risk 

Consequence Suggested 
Control 
Measures 

Response 
(tolerate, treat 
terminate, 
transfer) 

Risk 
Rating 
(combin
ation of 
likelihoo
d and 
impact) 

Nature of 
Risk 

Consequence Suggested 
Control 
Measures 

Response 
(tolerate, treat 
terminate, 
transfer) 

Risk 
Rating 
(combin
ation of 
likelihoo
d and 
impact) 

Option 1: 
 

This will ensure the 
Council is fulfilling its 
statutory duty under the 
Gambling Act 2005 in 
reviewing and adopting its 
Policy every 3 years. 

Members to 
agree to 
recommenda
tion provided 
to ensure it 
can be 
adopted well 
in advance of 
the expiry of 
the existing 
policy.  
 

Treat. 
  

2. 
  

Option 2: 
 

By delaying the review by 
the relevant committee, 
there would be limited time 
to consult and seek 
agreement by Full Council 
on the changes before the 
current policy expires.  

 

Officers to 
make the 
necessary 
changes and 
bring back to 
an 
extraordinary 
Licensing 
Committee at 
the earliest 
opportunity 
to avoid its 
failure in 
fulfilling its 
statutory 
duty to 
review every 
three years. 
The policy is 

Treat.  4. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14

http://www.threerivers.gov.uk/


 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

required to 
be agreed by 
Full Council 
before the 
end of the 
year. 

Option 3: 
 

By not to agreeing to 
review the existing policy 
the council would be 
failing in its statutory duty. 

Officers to 
advice 
against this 
approach to 
avoid legal 
challenges 
and failure of 
statutory 
duty as the 
policy is 
required to 
be reviewed 
by January 
2025. 

Treat. 8. 
 

  

16.3 The above risks are scored using the matrix below.  The Council has determined 
its aversion to risk and is prepared to tolerate risks where the combination of 
impact and likelihood scores 6 or less. 

 

 
Impact Score 

  
Likelihood Score 

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

V
e

ry
  L

ik
e
ly

  --------------------------►
  R

e
m

o
te

 

Low 

4 

High 

8 

Very High 

12 

Very High 

16 

Low 

3 

Medium  

6 

High 

9 

Very High 

12 

Low 

2 

Low 

4 

Medium 

6 

High 

8 

Low 

1 

Low 

2 

Low 

3 

Low 

4 

Impact 
Low  --------------------------------------------------►  Unacceptable 

Page 15



 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

4 (Catastrophic)  4 (Very Likely (≥80%)) 
3 (Critical)  3 (Likely (21-79%)) 
2 (Significant)  2 (Unlikely (6-20%)) 
1 (Marginal) 
 

 1 (Remote (≤5%)) 

16.4 In the officers’ opinion none of the new risks above, were they to come about, 
would seriously prejudice the achievement of the Strategic Plan and are 
therefore operational risks.  The effectiveness of the management of operational 
risks is reviewed by the Audit Committee annually. 

17 Recommendation 

17.1 It is recommended that Members agree to Option 1:  

- Consider the revised Policy found at Appendix B (this is a tracked document 
highlighting the amendments made to the current policy). 

- Consider whether to include a proposed ‘No Casino Resolution’ as part of 
the Policy consultation and seek wider opinion on the granting of such a 
resolution. 

- Commence a six-week public consultation process on the revised Policy 
and any potential ‘No Casino Resolution’. 

- Any response(s) to be circulated to all members of the committee with an 
officer response. The Head of Regulatory Services, in conjunction with the 
Lead Member, will then use her discretion following any response(s) 
received to conclude whether the amended Policy attached to this report 
can be adopted by Full Council or return to a future Licensing Committee. 

- Consider adding a further review of the Policy to the Licensing Committee 
work programme in early 2025, subject to guidance/legislation changes 
during 2024. 

 

That public access to the report be immediate. 

Committee Decision on Public Access:- 

1. Public access to report -  immediate 
2. Public access to report -  denied until (date): ..................... 
3. Public access to report -  Council agenda publication 
4. Public access to report -  denied until issue resolved (see future agenda) 
5. Public access to decision -  immediate or Council agenda publication 

 

Report prepared by: Lorna Fryer (Lead Licensing Officer) 

 
Data Quality 

Data sources: 

- Gambling Act 2005 

- Gambling (Licensing and Advertising) Act 2014 

- GamblingCommission.gov.uk 

- Institute of Licensing 

Page 16

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/17/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/17/contents
https://beta.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities/part-6-additional-information-to-be-made-available


 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

- High Stakes: Gambling Reform for the Digital Age 
(publishing.service.gov.uk) 

 

Data checked by: Matthew Roberts, Team Leader, Development Management 

Data rating: Tick  

 

1 Poor  

2 Sufficient  

3 High X 

 
Background Papers:  
 
High stakes: gambling reform for the digital age - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 
 
APPENDICES / ATTACHMENTS 
 
Appendix A: Current Statement of Gambling Principles and Policy 2022-2025 
 
Appendix B: Changes made to the draft Statement of Policy 2025-2028 
 
Appendix C: Clean version of draft Statement of Policy 2025-2028 
 
Appendix D: Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy – A Councillor’s guide 
 

Page 17

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/644923b5814c6600128d0723/1286-HH-E02769112-Gambling_White_Paper_Book_Accessible1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/644923b5814c6600128d0723/1286-HH-E02769112-Gambling_White_Paper_Book_Accessible1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/quick-guides/Councillors-guide.pdf


 
 

  Matthew Roberts  

 Page 18



Short Equality Impact and Outcome Assessment (EIA) Template  

EIAs make services better for everyone and support value for money by getting services right first time.  

EIAs enable us to consider all the information about a service, policy or strategy from an equalities perspective and then action plan to get the 

best outcomes for staff and service-users1 .They analyse how all our work as a council might impact differently on different groups 2 

They help us make good decisions and evidence how we have reached these decisions.3 

See end notes for full guidance. For further support or advice please contact the Community Partnerships Team  

Equality Impact and Outcomes Assessment (EIA) Template 

First, consider whether you need to complete an EIA, or if there is another way to evidence assessment of impacts, or that an EIA is not 

needed 4 

Title 5  
Review of Statement of Gambling Principles and 
Policy  

ID No 6 
 
20/05/24 

 

Team/Service7  
Licensing  

  

Focus of EIA 8   
 
The policy provides guidance to applicants when submitting applications to the local authority as a result of the provisions of the 
Gambling Act. Via the policy licensing authorities we are able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where appropriate.  
 
The Gambling Act placed a legal duty on both the Gambling Commission and licensing authorities to aim to permit gambling, in so far 
as it is consistent with the pursuit of the licensing objectives: 
 
a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime;  
b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way;  

c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.  

 
The focus of the EIA is on licensing objective c), protecting children and other vulnerable persons. 

Consideration of applications dependant on: 
 

- Location – i.e. in an area of deprivation  

P
age 19



- Demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups 
- Location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds etc 
- Area known for a high number of rough sleepers 

 
Ensuring that the council has a policy as per the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act. 
 
 
 

Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations  9 

 
Other than those identified within this document there no further impact identified 
 

Potential Issues  Mitigating Actions  

 
 
Exploitation of vulnerable persons  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Consideration into how children/vulnerable persons can be protected 
from taking part in gambling how appropriate signage, supervision of 
entrances / machines and segregation of areas. 
 
Having regard to the location of the premises, in respect of its 
relationship with the surrounding area, i.e. proximity to residential 
areas, vulnerable adult centres. 
 
Consulted with Community Partnerships who have provide additional 
agencies to consult with. 
 
Ensuring that all responsible authorities are notified of applications 

Actions Planned 10 

 
Ensure policy takes into account exploitation of vulnerable persons. 
 
Consult relevant bodies who “could” be affected by gambling as part of the policy consultation. 
 
 
 

 

P
age 20



EIA sign-off: (for the EIA to be final an email must sent from the relevant people agreeing it or this section must be signed) 

Equality Impact Assessment officer:         Date:  

Equalities Lead Officer:    Shivani Dave       Date: 24 May 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Guidance end-notes  

 

1 The following principles, drawn from case law, explain what we must do to fulfil our duties under the Equality Act:  

 Knowledge: everyone working for the council must be aware of our equality duties and apply them appropriately in their work.  

 Timeliness: the duty applies at the time of considering policy options and/or before a final decision is taken – not afterwards.  

 Real Consideration: the duty must be an integral and rigorous part of your decision-making and influence the process.  Sufficient 

Information: you must assess what information you have and what is needed to give proper consideration. 

  No delegation: the council is responsible for ensuring that any contracted services which provide services on our behalf can comply with the 

duty, are required in contracts to comply with it, and do comply in practice. It is a duty that cannot be delegated.  

 Review: the equality duty is a continuing duty. It applies when a policy is developed/agreed, and when it is implemented/reviewed.  

                                                           

P
age 21



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

 Proper Record Keeping: to show that we have fulfilled our duties we must keep records of the process and the impacts identified.  

NB: Filling out this EIA in itself does not meet the requirements of the equality duty. All the requirements above must be fulfilled or the EIA (and 

any decision based on it) may be open to challenge. Properly used, an EIA can be a tool to help us comply with our equality duty and as a 

record that to demonstrate that we have done so.  

 
2 Our duties in the Equality Act 2010  

As a council, we have a legal duty (under the Equality Act 2010) to show that we have identified and considered the impact and potential 

impact of our activities on all people with ‘protected characteristics’ (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, 

religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, and marriage and civil partnership. 

This applies to policies, services (including commissioned services), and our employees. The level of detail of this consideration will depend on 

what you are assessing, who it might affect, those groups’ vulnerability, and how serious any potential impacts might be. We use this EIA 

template to complete this process and evidence our consideration 

The following are the duties in the Act. You must give ‘due regard’ (pay conscious attention) to the need to:  

 avoid, reduce or minimise negative impact (if you identify unlawful discrimination, including victimisation and harassment, you must stop 

the action and take advice immediately).  

 promote equality of opportunity. This means the need to:  Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by equality groups  Take 

steps to meet the needs of equality groups  Encourage equality groups to participate in public life or any other activity where 

participation is disproportionately low  Consider if there is a need to treat disabled people differently, including more favourable 

treatment where necessary  

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. This means:  Tackle prejudice  

Promote understanding 

 
3 EIAs are always proportionate to:  

 The size of the service or scope of the policy/strategy 

 The resources involved  

 The numbers of people affected 

 The size of the likely impact  

 The vulnerability of the people affected  

P
age 22



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
 
The greater the potential adverse impact of the proposed policy on a protected group (e.g. disabled people), the more vulnerable the group in 
the context being considered, the more thorough and demanding the process required by the Act will be. 
 
 
4 When to complete an EIA:  

 When planning or developing a new service, policy or strategy  

 When reviewing an existing service, policy or strategy 

 When ending or substantially changing a service, policy or strategy  

 When there is an important change in the service, policy or strategy, or in the city (eg: a change in population), or at a national level (eg: 

a change of legislation)  

Assessment of equality impact can be evidenced as part of the process of reviewing or needs assessment or strategy development or 

consultation or planning. It does not have to be on this template, but must be documented. Wherever possible, build the EIA into your usual 

planning/review processes.  

 

Do you need to complete an EIA? Consider:  

 Is the policy, decision or service likely to be relevant to any people because of their protected characteristics?  

 How many people is it likely to affect?  

 How significant are its impacts?  

 Does it relate to an area where there are known inequalities?  

How vulnerable are the people (potentially) affected? If there are potential impacts on people but you decide not to complete an EIA it is usually 

sensible to document why. 

 
5 Title of EIA: This should clearly explain what service / policy / strategy / change you are assessing 

 
6 ID no: The unique reference for this EIA. This will be added by Community Partnerships 

 
7 Team/Service: Main team responsible for the policy, practice, service or function being assessed 

P
age 23



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
 
8 Focus of EIA: A member of the public should have a good understanding of the policy or service and any proposals after reading this section. 

Please use plain English and write any acronyms in full first time - eg: ‘Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)’  
 
This section should explain what you are assessing:  

 What are the main aims or purpose of the policy, practice, service or function?  

 Who implements, carries out or delivers the policy, practice, service or function? Please state where this is more than one 
person/team/body and where other organisations deliver under procurement or partnership arrangements.  

 How does it fit with other services? 

 Who is affected by the policy, practice, service or function, or by how it is delivered? Who are the external and internal serviceusers, 
groups, or communities? 

 What outcomes do you want to achieve, why and for whom? Eg: what do you want to provide, what changes or improvements, and 

what should the benefits be?  What do existing or previous inspections of the policy, practice, service or function tell you?  

 What is the reason for the proposal or change (financial, service, legal etc)? The Act requires us to make these clear. 
 

9
 Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations  

 Make a frank and realistic assessment of the overall extent to which the negative impacts can be reduced or avoided by the mitigating 
measures. Explain what positive impacts will result from the actions and how you can make the most of these.  

 Countervailing considerations: These may include the reasons behind the formulation of the policy, the benefits it is expected to deliver, 
budget reductions, the need to avert a graver crisis by introducing a policy now and not later, and so on. The weight of these factors in 
favour of implementing the policy must then be measured against the weight of any evidence as to the potential negative equality 
impacts of the policy,  

 Are there any further recommendations? Is further engagement needed? Is more research or monitoring needed? Does there need to 
be a change in the proposal itself? 

 
10 Action Planning: The Equality Duty is an ongoing duty: policies must be kept under review, continuing to give ‘due regard’ to the duty. If an 

assessment of a broad proposal leads to more specific proposals, then further equality assessment and consultation are needed. 

P
age 24



Score / Colour Code 

Dark green (4)

Light green (3)

Yellow (2)

Red (1)

Grey (0)

Name of project/policy/procurement and date 

Brief description (1-2 sentences):

Homes, buildings, infrastructure, equipment and energy

Question Impact (select from list)

Score         

(-1 to 4) Justification or mitigation

1

What effect will this project have on overall energy use (electricity or 

other fuels) e.g. in buildings, appliances or machinery?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

2

What effect will this project have on the direct use of fossil fuels 

such as gas, petrol, diesel, oil?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in 

this area, but otherwise proceed. 0

3

Does this project further maximise the use of existing building 

space? E.g. co-locating services; bringing under-used space into 

use; using buildings out-of-hours

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in 

this area, but otherwise proceed. 0

4

Will any new building constructed or refurbished be highly energy 

efficient in use? (e.g. high levels of insulation, low energy demand 

per sq. m.,  no servicing with fossil fuels such as gas heating, EPC 

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in 

this area, but otherwise proceed. 0

5

Does this make use of sustainable materials / unputs in your 

project? E.g. re-used or recycled construction materials; timber in 

place of concrete

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in 

this area, but otherwise proceed. 0

6

Does this use more sustainable processes in the creation of the 

project? E.g. modular and off-site construction; use of electrical 

plant  instead of petrol/diesel, 

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in 

this area, but otherwise proceed. 0

7

Will this increase the supply of renewable energy? e.g. installing 

solar panels; switching to a renewable energy tariff 

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in 

this area, but otherwise proceed. 0

TRDC Climate and Sustainability Impact Assesment 

Guidance for use

Please answer all questions from the drop-down options in the 'impact' 

column (C), including 'not applicable' as needed.

Please email your completed copy of the form to 

Joanna.Hewitson@threerivers.gov.uk.

Key to the colour coding of answers is given at the top of the page.

Review of Gambling Policy / no procurement required

Review of the gambling policy is required every 3 years. There has been no major changes to legislation or guidance. since 

previous review.

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.

Impact and Recommendation

Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.

Some positive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.

Some possible negative impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible.

Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations.

P
age 25



8

Do any appliances or electrical equipment to be used have high 

energy efficiency ratings?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in 

this area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Average Score #DIV/0!

Travel

Question Impact Score (0-4) Justification or mitigation

9 Reducing travel: what effect will this project have on overall vehicle use?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

10 Will this project use petrol or diesel vehicles or EV, hybrid?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in 

this area, but otherwise proceed. 0

11

Will this support people to use active or low-carbon transport? E.g. 

cycling, walking, switching to electric transport

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

12

Will it be easily accessible for all by foot, bike, or public transport, 

including for disabled people?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

13

Has the project taken steps to reduce traffic? Using e-cargo bikes; timing 

activities or deliveries to be outside peak congestion times

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Average Score #DIV/0!

Goods and Consumption

Question Impact Score (0-4) Justification or mitigation

14

Has this project considered ways to reuse existing goods and materials to 

the greatest extent possible, before acquiring newly manufactured ones? 

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

15

Does it reduce reliance on buying newly manufactured goods? E.g. 

repair and re-use; sharing and lending goods between services or 

people; leasing or product-as-a-service rather than ownership 

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

16

Does it use products and resources that are re-used, recycled, or 

renewable?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

17

Does it enable others to make sustainable choices within their lifestyles, 

or engage people about this?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

P
age 26



18 Is there a plan to reduce waste sent to landfill in manufacture? 

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

19

Is the material used able to be re-used, re-purposed, or recyled at end of 

its life?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

20

Has it taken steps to ensure any food it offers is more sustainable? E.g. 

less and high-quality (high welfare) meat and dairy; minimises food 

waste; seasonal produce; locally sourced.

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Average Score #DIV/0!

Ecology

Question Impact Score (0-4) Justification or mitigation

21

What effect does this project have on total area of non-amenity 

green/blue space? (Amenity green space = playing fields, play areas, 

sporting lakes etc. Non-amenity= e.g. woodland, grassland, wetland, 

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

22

Does the project create more habitat for nature? E.g. native plants, trees, 

and flowers

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

23

Does it make changes to existing habitats and have a negative impact on 

nature? E.g. use of pesticides, reduced extent and variety of plants, 

planting non-native species

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

24

Does it help people understand the value of biodiversity, and encourage 

residents  to support it in their private and community spaces?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Average Score #DIV/0!

Adaptation

Question Impact Score (0-4) Justification or mitigation

25

Does any planned project, construction or building use include measures 

to conserve water?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

26

Does anythe project , consider how to sustainably protect people from 

extreme weather?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

27

Has any planned building work or infrastructure considered how to 

mitigate flood risk? E.g. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS); de-

paving areas; green roofs

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

28

Does any planned infrastructure or building work increase the overall 

footprint of hard surfacing? (as opposed to green or permeable surfacing)

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

29

Has the project considered its own resilience to future extreme heat, 

flood risk, or water shortage?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

P
age 27



Average Score #DIV/0!

Engagement and Influence

Question Impact Score (0-4) Justification or mitigation

30

Does this project raise awareness and understanding of the climate and 

ecological emergency, and the steps that people can take?

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to 

consider how benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Average Score #DIV/0!

Total Overall Average Score #DIV/0!

Homes, buildings, infrastructure, equipment and energy #DIV/0!

Travel #DIV/0!

Goods and Consumption #DIV/0!

Ecology #DIV/0!

Adaptation #DIV/0!

Engagement and Influence #DIV/0!

Total Overall Average Score #DIV/0!

Climate and Sustainability Impact Assessment Summary

Now assesment is compelete copy and paste box into your business case, committee report. (under environmental 

implications 6).Whole assesment can be an appendix. Procurement tenders are expected to submit complete report with 

application.

P
age 28



Impact (select from list)

Revised    

Score (1-4)

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0
Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

TRDC Climate and Sustainability Impact Assesment 

Review of Gambling Policy / no procurement required

Review of the gambling policy is required every 3 years. There has been no major changes to legislation or guidance. since 

previous review.

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

Neutral or not applicable. Recommendation to consider how benefits could be achieved in this area, but otherwise proceed.

Impact and Recommendation

Strong positive impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to proceed as is with this aspect.

Some positive impact for sustainability. Recommendation to further enhance this aspect where possible and proceed.

Some possible negative impacts for sustainability. Recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations where possible.

Considerable inconsistency with the council's sustainability objectives. Strong recommendation to review these aspects and find mitigations.

P
age 29



Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

#DIV/0!

Impact (select from list)

Revised    

Score (0-4)

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0
Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0
Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

#DIV/0!

Impact (select from list)

Revised    

Score (0-4)

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

P
age 30



Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

#DIV/0!

Impact (select from list)

Revised    

Score (0-4)

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

#DIV/0!

Impact (select from list)

Revised    

Score (0-4)

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 0

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

 (Seek advice from Landscapes Team if required)

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

P
age 31



#DIV/0!

Impact (select from list)

Revised    

Score (0-4)
Neutral or not applicable. 

Recommendation to consider how 

benefits could be achieved in this 

area, but otherwise proceed. 0

#DIV/0!

#DIV/0!

Ways to optimise sustainability and work towards net zero carbon:

P
age 32



Page 1 of 29 

 

 

 
 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 
2022 to 2025 

 

 

GAMBLING ACT 2005  
 
 
 

     
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lorna Fryer, Lead Licensing Officer 
Licensing Team, Three Rivers District Council 
 
This Statement will come into force on the 14th January 2022 and will have effect until 13th January 
2025 being kept under review and revised or amended as required following consultation. 
  

Page 33



Page 2 of 29 

 

Contents 
 

Item Page 

Contents 2 

Executive Summary 3 

Three Rivers District Council Boundary 5 

1. Statement of Principles 6 

2. Licensing Objectives 6 

3. Responsible Authorities 8 

4. Interested Parties 9 

5. Exchange of information  10 

6. Licensing Authority Functions 10 

7. Premises Licences 11 

8. Local Risk Assessment 11 

8.4 Location 12 

8.5 Duplication with other regulatory regimes 12 

8.6 Conditions 12 

8.7 Door Supervisors 13 

8.8 Multiple Premises Licences 14 

8.9 Adult Gaming Centres 14 

8.10 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 15 

8.11 Casinos 15 

8.12 Bingo Premises 15 

8.13.Betting Premises  16 

8.14 Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBT’s) 16 

8.15 Tracks 17 

8.16 Travelling fairs 18 

9. Provisional Statements  18 

10. Permits / Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 18 

10.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 18 

10.2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 19 

10.3 Prize Gaming Permits  20 

10.4 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 20 

10.5 Temporary Use  21 

10.6 Occasional Use  21 

10.7 Small Society Lotteries  21 

11. Enforcement 22 

12. Complaints Against a Licensed Premises 23 

13. Reviews  23 

14. Appeals 24 

15. Delegation and Decision Making  24 

16. Covid-19, Coronavirus Regulations 24 

Appendix 1 – List of consultees 25 

Appendix 2 – Gaming Machines maximum stakes and payouts 27 

Appendix 3 – Table of delegated functions 28 

Appendix 4 – Statement of principles log 29 

  

Page 34



Page 3 of 29 

 

Statement of Principles (Gambling Act 2005) 2022-2025 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

The Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) introduced a new regime for regulating gambling and betting 
throughout the United Kingdom from 1 September 2017. Section 349 of the Act imposes a 
statutory duty upon licensing authorities to publish a Statement of Principles which they propose 
to apply when exercising their functions under the Act. The Gambling Commission guidance has 
since been updated from April 2021. 
 
The Act places a legal duty on both the Gambling Commission and licensing authorities to aim to 
permit gambling, in so far as it is considered to be reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives. The effect of this duty is that both the Commission and licensing authorities 
must approach their functions in a way that seeks to regulate gambling by using their powers, for 
example, powers to attach conditions to licences, to moderate its impact on the licensing 
objectives rather than by starting out to prevent it altogether. 
 
Three Rivers District Council must have regard to the Licensing Objectives namely: 
 

a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
 with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 
c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

 exploited by gambling. 
 

It should be noted that this policy will not override the right of any person to make an application, 
make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence. Each application is 
determined on its own merits in accordance with the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 
2005.  
 
The Responsible Authorities must be consulted upon receipt of an application for or variation of 
a premises licence under the Act. 
 
Enforcement principles of the Licensing Authority are guided by the Gambling Commission 
guidance. We therefore endeavour to be proportionate, accountable, consistent, transparent and 
targeted. 
 

Declaration 
In producing this Statement, Three Rivers District Council declares that it has had regard to the 
licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission, and any responses received from those consulted on the Statement. 
 
Representations 
Interested parties may make representations in respect of applications and they may apply for a 
review of an existing licence.  An interested party includes those living sufficiently close to a 
premises likely to be affected, have business interests that may be affected or a person who 
represents either of these types of people. Councillors and MPs may also be classed as 
interested parties. 
 
Applications and representations referred to a Licensing Sub-Committee for determination will be 
published in reports which are publically available in accordance with legislation.  
 
Gaming Machines 
In relation to category C (or above) gaming machines on premises in which children are admitted, 
the authority will ensure that the machines are located in a separated area to which only adults 

Page 35

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/section/349
https://beta.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities/gla-part-6-licensing-authority-policy-statement


Page 4 of 29 

 

are admitted and that access  to this area is supervised. Notices indicating the restricted age 
access are expected to be displayed. 
 
Alcohol licensed premises are automatically entitled to have 2 gaming machines of category C 
and/or D however the Licensing Authority needs to be notified. In certain circumstances the 
Licensing Authority may remove this entitlement.  
 
Betting Machines 
There is no evidence that betting machines (not gaming machines) give concern to regulatory 
matters however the Licensing Authority reserves the right to limit the number, nature and 
circumstances of these machines where there is evidence that their use may infringe the licensing 
objectives.  
 
Provisional Statements 
Following grant of a provisional statement, no further representations may be made from relevant 
authorities or interested parties unless they concern additional matters not previously considered 
within the provisional statement or concern the applicants change in circumstances.  
 
Premises 
Premises Licences are subject to mandatory and default conditions as per the requirements of 
the Act. The Licensing Authority may exclude default conditions and attach others where 
appropriate. Conditions must be proportionate and relevant to the need to make the proposed 
building suitable as a gambling facility, directly related to the premises and type of licence applied 
for, fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises and reasonable in all other 
aspects. 
 
Applications for a premises in which there are or would be multiple licences for a premises will 
be carefully considered to ensure different parts of the premises are not compromised and are 
separate so that people do not accidently enter the gambling area.  The location of a premises 
will only be considered in terms of the licensing objectives.  
 
The Licensing Authority will avoid duplication with other statutory regimes and only consider 
concerns about conditions not being met due to restrictions in place by other regimes.  
 
There are a number of types of licensed premises but Three Rivers District currently only has 
licensed Betting Premises. Children are prohibited from these premises.  
 
Door Supervisors 
In order to achieve the licensing objectives, the Licensing Authority reserves the right to consider 
the use of door supervisors in certain circumstances. 
 
Reviews 
Reviews can be called by interested parties or Responsible Authorities but ultimately the 
Licensing Authority determines whether the review is to be carried out. In determination, the 
Licensing Authority will consider whether a review is frivolous or vexatious, will certainly not cause 
the Authority to alter, revoke or suspend a licence and will consider if the review is substantially 
the same as previous requests for a review. Grounds for a review would be those in accordance 
with relevant guidance or codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission, those consistent 
with the licensing objectives and statement of licensing policy. 
 
The Licensing Authority may initiate a review of a licence for any other appropriate reason.  
 
In cases of unlicensed premises, it is possible to hold licensed activities under temporary use 
notices and occasional use notices but these are subject to statutory limitations.  
 
 

Page 36



Page 5 of 29 

 

Three Rivers District Council Boundary  
 

 
 

Three Rivers District Council is situated in the county of Hertfordshire, which contains 13 district 
Councils in total. 
 
Three Rivers District covers an area spanning approximately 34 square miles, and has 
approximately 89,500 residents (based upon figures from 2013).  
 
The main populated areas in the district are Rickmansworth, Mill End and Maple Cross, Moor 
Park and parts of Northwood, Chorleywood, Croxley Green, Abbots Langley and South 
Oxhey/Carpenders Park. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 37



Page 6 of 29 

 

1 Statement of Principles 
 

1.1 In accordance with statutory procedures, a review of this policy will take place every 3 
years, to take into account information collated over a period of time, coupled with the 
outcomes of initiatives relating to gambling at central and local government level. The 
policy may also be subject to minor amendments from time to time, for example, when 
there are changes to relevant legislation; when this is necessary, changes will be 
authorised by the head of Regulatory Services, in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Licensing Committee 
 

1.2 Nothing in this Statement of Principles will: 
a) Undermine the right or any person to apply under the Act for a variety of permissions 

and have the application considered on its own merits; or,  
b) Override the right of any person to make representations on any application or seek 

a review of a licence or permit where they are permitted to do so under the Act. 
 

1.3 The starting point in determining applications will be to grant the application with only 
mandatory and default conditions, so long as this can be achieved in a manner which is: 
a) In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling  

  Commission; 
b) In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 
c) Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 
d) In accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principle. 

 
1.4 Licensing authorities are however, able to exclude default conditions and also attach 

others, where it is believed to be appropriate. 

1.5 It is appreciated that as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities 
“moral or ethical objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for 
premises licences” and, in addition to this, unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing 
authority. 

1.6 Three Rivers District Council has consulted widely upon this statement before finalising 
and publishing it. A full list of those consulted is at Appendix 1. Copies of this 
consultation version are available on the Councils’ website 

1.7 The overriding principle is that all applications and the circumstances prevailing at each 
premises will be considered on its own individual merits. When applying these principles, 
the Licensing Authority will consider, in the light of relevant representations, whether 
exceptions should be made in any particular case. 

1.8 The final policy has been considered by Full Council and will be published on our Three 
Rivers District Council website, as well as being available in Three Rivers House, on 
request. 

2 Licensing objectives 

2.1 Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. 
With regard to these objectives, this Licensing Authority has considered the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to local authorities. 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

2.1.1.1 This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be taking a leading 
role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The Gambling Commission's 
Guidance does however envisage that licensing authorities should pay attention to the 

Page 38

https://beta.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities


Page 7 of 29 

 

proposed location of gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, where 
an area has known high levels of crime this authority will consider carefully whether 
gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions may be 
suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This Licensing Authority is aware of 
the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will consider factors such as whether 
police assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who 
could see it, so as to make that distinction.  Issues of nuisance cannot be addressed via 
the Gambling Act provisions. 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

2.1.2.1 This Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated that it 
would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with ensuring that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. This will be addressed via operating and 
personal licences.   

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling 

2.1.3.1 This Licensing Authority has noted that this objective means preventing children from 
taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling products 
are not aimed at, or are particularly attractive to, children).  The Licensing Authority will 
therefore consider whether specific measures are required at particular premises, with 
regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may include supervision of 
entrances/machines, segregation of areas etc.  

2.1.3.2 When determining an application to grant a premises licence or review a premises 
licence, regard will be taken to the proximity of the premises to schools, vulnerable adult 
centres or residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families with 
children. The proximity of premises taken into consideration will vary depending on the 
size and scope of the gambling premises concerned. Each case will, however, be 
decided on its merits. Therefore, if an applicant can effectively demonstrate how they 
might overcome concerns relating to the licensing objectives, this will also be taken into 
account. 

2.1.3.3 As regards the term “vulnerable persons”, this Licensing Authority will, for regulatory 
purposes, assume that this group includes people who: 

 gamble more than they want to;  

 gamble beyond their means; and  

 may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a 
mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.   
 

2.1.3.4 This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing objective on a case by case basis.   

2.1.3.5 This Licensing Authority will also make itself aware of the Codes of Practice that the  

2.1.3.6 Gambling Commission issues as regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific 
premises such as casinos.   

2.1.3.7 This Licensing Authority will also ensure that, where category C or above [see Appendix 
2 for an explanation of the categories] machines are on offer in premises to which 
children are admitted: 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access 
other than through a designated entrance; 

Page 39



Page 8 of 29 

 

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by 
the staff or the licence holder; and 

 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed notices 
indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
2.1.3.8 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple premises 

licences are applicable. 

2.1.3.9 Betting Machines (machines on a shop floor where customer can place a bet without 
having to visit the counter, not to be confused with fixed odds betting machines or 
amusement with prizes machines). While the authority has discretion as to the number, 
nature and circumstances of the use of betting machines, there is no evidence that such 
machines give rise to regulatory concerns. This authority will consider limiting the 
number of machines only where there is clear evidence that such machines have been, 
or are likely to be, used in breach of the licensing objectives. Where there is such 
evidence this authority may consider, when reviewing the licence, the ability of staff to 
monitor the use of such machines from the counter. 

2.1.3.10 This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this Licensing Authority will consider the impact 
upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are 
not permitted to enter. 

3 Responsible Authorities 

3.1 The responsible authorities, being public bodies to be notified of applications and who 
are entitled to make representations to the Licensing Authority pursuant to the licensing 
objectives, for the purposes of the Act are: 

1. The Gambling Commission  
2. Hertfordshire Constabulary 
3. Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
4. Head of Development Management, Planning Dept, Three Rivers District Council 
5. Environmental Health Residential Standards Team, Three Rivers District Council 
6. Enforcing Authority: Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
7. Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
8. HM Revenues and Customs 

 
Full contact details for the responsible authorities will be made available on the 
Council website at www.threerivers.gov.uk  

 

3.2 The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body 
which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm.  
The principles are: 

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 
Licensing Authority’s area; and 

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather 
than any particular vested interest group. 

 

Page 40

http://www.threerivers.gov.uk/


Page 9 of 29 

 

This authority designates the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board at 
Hertfordshire County Council for this purpose. 

 
4 Interested Parties 

4.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 
review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as a 
person who: 

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities, 

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) above.”  

 

4.2 The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party. The principles are:   

a) Each case will be decided upon its merits.  
b) This Licensing Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making.  
c) This Licensing Authority will consider the examples of considerations concerning 

these matters provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities, 
but may not follow it in every case. 

 

4.3 Interested parties include trade associations and trade unions, and residents’ and 
tenants’ associations (Gambling Commission Guidance for local authorities 8.17). This 
Licensing Authority will not however generally view these bodies as interested parties at 
a Hearing unless they have a member who can be classed as an interested person under 
the terms of the Gambling Act 2005 (i.e. lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
affected by the activities being applied for). 

4.4 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors 
and MPs.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will be 
required as long as the Councillor/MP represents the ward to be affected.  Likewise, 
parish councils to be affected will be considered to be interested parties.  Other than 
these however, this authority will generally require written evidence that a person/body 
(e.g. an advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to 
the premises to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has business interests 
that might be affected by the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons, 
requesting the representation, is sufficient. 

4.5 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views then care 
should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the Licensing Committee dealing with 
the licence application.  If there are any doubts then please contact the Lead Licensing 
Officer. 

4.6 The licensing authority will not consider representations that are frivolous or vexatious, 
or which relate to demand or need for gambling facilities.  Decisions on whether 
representations are frivolous or vexatious will be made objectively and not on the basis 
of any political judgement.   

4.7 Where representations are rejected, the person making that representation will be given 
a written explanation (by email where an email address has been provided). 

4.8 A vexatious representation is generally taken to be one which is repetitive, without 
foundation or made for some other reason such as malice.  A frivolous representation is 
generally taken to be one that is lacking in seriousness, or is unrelated to the licensing 

Page 41



Page 10 of 29 

 

objectives, guidance issued by the Gambling Commission or this statement of licensing 
policy. 

5 Exchange of Information 

5.1 The principle that this Licensing Authority applies is that it will act in accordance with the 
provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the 
provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 will not be contravened.  The Licensing 
Authority will also have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to 
local authorities on this matter when it is published, as well as any relevant regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 
Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with other bodies 
then they will be made publicly available. 

5.2 Details of applications and representations which are referred to a Licensing sub-
Committee for determination will be published in reports that are made publicly available 
in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 and the Freedom of Information Act 
2000.  Personal details of people making representations will be disclosed to applicants 
and only be withheld from publication on the grounds of personal safety where the 
Licensing Authority is asked to do so. 

6 Licensing Authority functions 

6.1 Three Rivers District Council has a duty under the Act to licence premises where 
gambling is to take place, and to license certain other activities.  

6.2 ‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in a lottery. In 
particular, the Licensing Authority is responsible for: 

a) the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take place by issuing 
Premises Licences; 

b) Issuing Provisional Statements; 
c) regulating members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes which wish to undertake 

certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits; 

d) issuing Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs; 
e) granting permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed 

Family Entertainment Centres; 
f) receiving notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) 

for the use of two or fewer gaming machines; 
g) issuing Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 

sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing 
Act 2003, where there are more than two machines; 

h) registering small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds; 
i) issuing Prize Gaming Permits; 
j) receiving and Endorse Temporary Use Notices; 
k) receiving Occasional Use Notices; 
l) providing information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 

issued (see section above on ‘information exchange’); 
m) maintaining registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 

functions. 
 
6.3 It should be noted that local licensing authorities are not involved in licensing remote 

gambling (being where persons participate in gambling activities by use of remote 
communication such as the internet, telephone, television or other electronic facilitating 
communication)  at all. This will fall to the Gambling Commission via operating licences. 

Page 42



Page 11 of 29 

 

6.4 The Gambling Commission is responsible for the regulation of gambling and betting 
except for National Lottery and spread betting through the licensing of the operators and 
individuals involved in providing gambling and betting facilities. 

6.5 In 2021 the Government increased the minimum age to play the National lottery to 18 
years. 

7 Premises Licences 

7.1 An application for a premises licence can only be made by a person or company who 
either holds an operating licence authorising him to carry on the activity in respect of 
which a premises licence is sought, OR has made an application for an operating licence 
which has not yet been determined.   

7.2 Applications for the grant, transfer or variation of a premises licence must be 
accompanied by an assessment that demonstrates how the applicant will promote all of 
the licensing objectives in the form of a written Operating Schedule. The applicant may 
ask the authority for advice as to the scope of information to be provided.  

7.3 The level of detail to be provided will be advised by the authority and will be proportional 
to the scale and nature of the application made. 

8 Local Risk Assessments 

8.1 From 6 April 2016 it is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions 
and Codes of Practice (LCCP), for licensees to assess the local risks to the licensing 
objectives posed by the provisions of gambling facilities at their premises, Licensees 
must have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate risks that have been 
identified. In making risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters 
identified in this policy. 

8.2 The LCCP goes on to say licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local 
risk assessments: 

 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 
identified in this policy; 

 When there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 
mitigation of local risks; 

 When applying for a variation of a premise licence ; and 

 In any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new premises 
licence. 

 
8.3 The Council will expect the local risk assessment to consider as a minimum: 

 Whether the premises is in an area of deprivation; 

 Whether the premises is in and area subject to high levels of crime and/or disorder; 

 The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups; 

 The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, leisure 
centres and other areas where children will gather. 

 Significant presence of young children, both residents and visitors; 

 High unemployment area; 

 Nearby homeless hostels; 

 Nearby gambling, alcohol, drug or mental health support facility; 

 The area has a high number of rough sleepers/homeless people; 
 

8.4 Location  

Page 43



Page 12 of 29 

 

 This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with regard 
to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing objectives 
can. This authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and 
disorder. Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling 
premises should not be located, this statement will be updated.  It should be noted that 
any such policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will 
be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant to show how potential 
concerns can be overcome.   

8.5 Duplication with other regulatory regimes  

 This Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems where possible, including Planning. This authority will not consider whether a 
licence application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations 
approval. It will listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions that 
cannot be met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise. 

8.6 Conditions  

 Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 

a) relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility; 
b) directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 
c) fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 
d) reasonable in all other respects.  

 
 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although 

there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will consider utilising should 
there be a perceived need, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate signage for adult 
only areas etc.  There are specific comments made in this regard under some of the 
licence types below. This Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant to 
offer his/her own suggestions as to ways in which the licensing objectives can be met 
effectively. 

 This licensing authority will also consider specific measures that may be required for 
buildings that are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may include 
the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas 
frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling 
specific premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.  These matters are in 
accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance. 

 
 This authority will also ensure that, where category C or above [see Appendix 2 for an 

explanation of the categories] machines are on offer in premises to which children are 
admitted: 

a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from 
the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance; 

b) only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 
c) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 
d) the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 

by the staff or the licence holder; and 
e) at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 
 

Page 44



Page 13 of 29 

 

 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple premises 
licences are applicable. 

 Betting Machines (machines on a shop floor where customer can place a bet without 
having to visit the counter) (not to be confused with fixed odds betting machines or 
amusement with prizes machines) - while the authority has discretion as to the number, 
nature and circumstances of the use of betting machines, there is no evidence that such 
machines give rise to regulatory concerns.  This authority will consider limiting the 
number of machines only where there is clear evidence that such machines have been, 
or are likely to be, used in breach of the licensing objectives.  Where there is such 
evidence this authority may consider, when reviewing the licence, the ability of staff to 
monitor the use of such machines from the counter.  

 
 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 

premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will consider the impact 
upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are 
not permitted to enter. 

 It is noted that there are conditions that the licensing authority cannot attach to premises 
licences which are: 

a) any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an 
operating licence condition;  

b) conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation; 
c) conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 

Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and 
bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated); and 

d) conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes. 
 
8.7 Door Supervisors  

 Consideration should be given whether there is a need for door supervisors in terms of 
the licensing objectives of protection of children and vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in terms of preventing premises becoming a 
source of crime.  

 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door supervisors 
for the protection of the public.  The authority will make a door supervision requirement 
only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the premises that the premises 
cannot be adequately supervised from the counter and that door supervision is both 
necessary and proportionate. 

 It is noted though that in-house staff at casinos and bingo premises need not be licensed 
by the Security Industry Authority (SIA) although this would be preferable in helping meet 
the licensing objectives. Where operators and the Licensing Authority consider that 
supervision of entrances and machines is appropriate in particular cases, it will be 
decided whether these need to be SIA licensed on a case by case basis. 

8.8 Multiple Premises Licences  

 Premise is defined in the Act as “any place”, Different premises licences cannot apply in 
respect of a single premises at different times. However, it is possible for a single building 
to be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts of 
the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as being 

Page 45



Page 14 of 29 

 

different premises. Whether different parts of a building can be properly regarded as 
being separate premises will always be a question of fact in the circumstances. However, 
the Gambling Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially 
or temporarily separate can be properly regarded as different premises. 

 In considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a 
discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes, entrances and exits 
from parts of the building covered by one or more licences should be separate and 
identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not compromised and that 
people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible 
to access the premises without going through another licensed premises or premises 
with a permit. 

 The Licensing Authority will consider, amongst others, the factored outlined in the 
Gambling Commission guidance when deciding upon the extent of separation of 
licensable premises. In particular, due regard will be given to the specific requirements 
relating to entrances and exits to particular types of licensable premises. 

 It should be noted that a licence to use a remises for gambling should only be issued in 
relation to premises that the Licensing Authority can be satisfied are going to be ready 
to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of the 
building or alterations required before the premises are brought into use. If the 
construction is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the applicant does not 
yet have the right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional statement should 
be made instead. 

 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding 
construction or alteration works at a premises, applications will be determined on their 
merits, applying a two stage consideration process: 

a) Whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling; 
b) Whether appropriate conditions can be applied to the situation whereby the premises 

are not yet in the condition in which they ought to be before gambling can take place. 
 

 Applicants should note that the Licensing Authority is entitled to decide whether it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but is not obliged to grant such a 
licence. 

8.9 Adult Gaming Centres 

 There are currently no Adult Gaming Centres within the District. 

 Should this situation change then this Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer 
their own measures to meet the licensing objectives. However, appropriate 
measures/licence conditions may cover issues such as: 

a) Proof of age schemes; 
b) CCTV; 
c) Supervision of entrances / machine areas; 
d) Physical separation of areas. 
e) Location of entry: 
f) Notices/signage 
g) Specific opening hours; 
h) Self-exclusion schemes on recommendation of police or families 
i) Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

Gamcare. 
 

Page 46



Page 15 of 29 

 

8.10 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 

 There are currently no Family Entertainment Centres within the District. 

 Should this situation change then this Licensing Authority will have regard to the need 
to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, that there will be sufficient measures 
to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine 
areas. 

 This Licensing Authority my consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as  

a) CCTV; 
b) Proof of age schemes; 
c) Supervision of entrances / machine areas; 
d) Physical separation of areas; 
e) Location of entry; 
f) Notices / signage; 
g) Specific opening hours; 
h) Self-barring schemes; 
i) Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare; 
j) Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on 

the premises. 
 

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures. 
 

 This Licensing Authority will refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that 
apply to operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the category 
C machines should be delineated.  This Licensing Authority will also make itself aware 
of any mandatory or default conditions on these premises licences, when they have been 
published.   

8.11 Casinos 

 Currently there are no casinos operating within the District. Section 166 of the Gambling 
Act 2005 enables a licensing authority to resolve not to issue casino licences. The 
previous resolution which was originally passed in October 2006 was removed at the 
Extraordinary Licensing Committee on 6th October 2021.  

 Should this licensing authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it will update 
this policy statement with details of that resolution. Any such decision will be made by 
the Full Council.  

 Notwithstanding the above, at present, no such resolution is necessary because the Act 
gives the licensing authority no power to issue casino licences in any event. 

8.12 Bingo Premises 

 There are currently no bingo premises within the District.  

 Should this situation change, the Gambling Commission Guidance states: 

 
 It is important that, if children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo, they do 

not participate in gambling, other than on category D machines.  Where category C or 

Page 47



Page 16 of 29 

 

above machines are available in premises to which children are admitted, this Licensing 
Authority will ensure that: 

a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access 
other than through a designated entrance; 

b) only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located; 
c) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 
d) the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by 

staff of the operator or the licence holder; and 
e) at the entrance to, and inside, any such area there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 
 

 All current and future guidance by the Gambling Commission will also be taken into 
consideration when considering such applications. 

8.13 Betting premises 

 This Licensing Authority will take into account the size of the premises, the number of 
counter positions available for person–to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to 
monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those 
under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the number 
/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer. 

  This Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of 
premises within its area. In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised 
and resolved at the earliest stage, operator are requested to give the authority a single 
point of contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom the authority will contact 
should any compliance queries or issues arise. 

8.14 Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBT’s) 

 In respect to nationally expressed concerns that exist in relation to the potentially 
adverse impact FOBT’s may have on vulnerable groups of adults, the Licensing 
Authority will give due consideration to the need to apply conditions to betting shop 
premises licences including, but not limited to, setting out minimum staffing levels to 
ensure sufficient staff are on the premises to enable staff to comprehensively promote 
responsible gambling, adequately protect players, particularly in relation to players who 
are deemed to be vulnerable and to prevent under 18 year olds accessing gambling 
facilities. 

 The Licensing Authority expects FOBT’s to be positioned in such a way that they can be 
appropriately monitored by staff particularly where those staff are positioned at a counter 
away from the machines. In general the Licensing Authority is of the view that ‘privacy 
screens’ will hamper this and will expect the local area risk assessment to take this into 
account where applicants intend to construct such screens. Particular attention should 
be paid to the Gambling Commission’s Social Responsibility Codes in this regard. Where 
an existing licensee adds ‘privacy screens’ a variation application will be required 

8.15 Tracks 

 A track is a site where races or other sporting events take place. There are currently no 
tracks within the District. Should this situation change tracks maybe subject to one or 
more than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the 
track. The Licensing Authority will especially consider the impact upon third licensing 
objective (i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises 

Page 48



Page 17 of 29 

 

are distinct and that children are excluded from the gambling areas where they are not 
permitted to enter. 

 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such 
as; 

a) Plans of designated areas;  
b) Proof of age schemes; 
c) CCTV; 
d) Supervision of entrances / machine areas; 
e) Physical separation of areas; 
f) Location of entry; 
g) Notices / signage; 
h) Specific opening hours; 
i) Self-exclusion schemes on recommendation of police or families; 
j) Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare. Also information on other diversionary leisure activities. 
 

 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures. 
 

 Gaming Machines – Applications for track premises licences will need to demonstrate 
that, where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use his 
entitlement to four gaming machines, these machines are located in areas from which 
children are excluded. Children and young persons are not prohibited from playing 
category D gaming machines on a track. 

 Betting machines – Account will be taken of the size of the premises and ability of staff 
to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for 
those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the 
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer. 

 Condition on rules being displayed – The Gambling Commission has advised in its 
Guidance for local authorities that “…licensing authorities should attach a condition to 
track premises licences requiring the track operator to ensure that the rules are 
prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other measures are taken to 
ensure that they are made available to the public. For example, the rules could be printed 
in the race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track office”. 

 Applications and plans – Although the precise location of where betting facilities are 
provided is not required to be shown on track plans, applications should provide 
sufficient information so that the Licensing Authority can satisfy itself that the plan 
indicates the main areas where betting might take place. In particular, betting rings must 
be indicated on the plan. In circumstances where are perimeter is not defined, for 
example in point-t-point racing where an entry fee is levied, temporary structures 
restricting access to the premises can be used. 

 This Licensing Authority also notes that in the Commissioner’s view, it would be 
preferable for all self-contained premises operated by off-course betting operators on 
track to be the subject of separate premises licences, to ensure that there is clarity 
between the respective responsibilities of the track operator and the off-course betting 
operator running a self-contained unit on the premises. 

 The Commissioner considers the track premises licence holders should accept some 
accountability for promoting socially responsible gambling on their premises and that the 
level of responsibility should be commensurate with the volume and intensity of gambling 
that occurs on their premises. 

Page 49



Page 18 of 29 

 

 
8.16 Travelling Fairs 

 This licensing authority will decide whether, where category D machines and/or equal 
chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at travelling fairs, 
the statutory requirement is met that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than 
an ancillary amusement at the fair is met. 

 The Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair. 

 It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair, 
is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, 
regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land. This 
licensing authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which 
crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

9 Provisional Statements 

9.1 Following the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless they concern matters 
which could not have been addressed at the provisional statement stage, or they reflect 
a change in the applicant’s circumstances. In addition, the authority may refuse the 
premises licence (or grant it on terms different to those attached to the provisional 
statement) only by reference to matters: 

(a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or  
(b) which, in the authority’s opinion, reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances.  

 
9.2 This Licensing Authority noted the Commission’s Guidance that “a licensing authority 

will not take into account irrelevant matters, i.e. the likelihood of the applicant obtaining 
planning permission or building regulations approval for the proposal”.  

10 Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 

10.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine permits  

 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide gaming 
machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for this permit.  It should be noted that 
the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making 
gaming machines available for use. 

  The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for 
a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need not but 
may have regard to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to nay relevant 
guidance issued by the Commission. 

 An application for a permit may be granted only if the Licensing Authority is satisfied that 
the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the chief officer of police has 
been consulted on the application. This Licensing Authority will ask applicants to 
demonstrate: 

a) a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that are 
permissible in unlicensed FECs; 

b) that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 
of the Act; and 

Page 50



Page 19 of 29 

 

c) that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 
(24.7)  

 
It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type of 
permit. 

 
 This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 

procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to 
harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The efficiency of 
such policies and procedures may include appropriate measures/training for staff as 
regards suspected truant school children on the premises, measures/training covering 
how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or 
children causing perceived problems on/around the premises. 

10.2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits  

 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 
premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D. The 
premises merely need to notify the Licensing Authority.  If the person ceases to be on- 
premises alcohol licence for the premises, the automatic entitlement two gaming 
machine also ceases. Whoever applies for the new premises alcohol licence will also 
need to apply under S282 (2), notifying the Licensing Authority of their intention to make 
the gaming machines available for use and paying the prescribed fee. If the alcohol 
licence ceases to have effect because it is suspended the gaming machines cannot be 
used. The licensing authority can removed the automatic authorisation in respect of any 
particular premises if:  

a) provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives; 

b) gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of 
the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the Licensing 
Authority, that a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued 
by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine has 
been complied with);  

c) the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 
d) an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises. 

 
 If an applicant wishes to have more than 2 machines, then they need to apply for a permit 

and the Licensing Authority must consider that application based upon the licensing 
objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 
of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they think relevant.” This Licensing 
Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case basis but 
generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling.  We will expect the applicant to satisfy the 
authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under-18 year olds do not 
have access to the adult-only gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the 
authority that there will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of 
the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by 
those under 18.  Notices and signage may also help.  As regards the protection of 
vulnerable persons, applicants may wish to consider the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. The Council’s Licensing 
Committee has delegated the issuing of a permit for up to 2 machines to the Lead 
Licensing Officer/Licensing Officer, with any application in excess of 2 to be subject to 
consideration by the Committee. 

Page 51



Page 20 of 29 

 

 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence 
for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to be 
applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence. 

 In such circumstances, the Licensing Authority can decide to grant the application with 
a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied 
for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 

 The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machine(s). 

10.3 Prize Gaming Permits  

 Applicants for these permits should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending 
to demonstrate:  

(a) that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations;  
        
(b) the gaming offered is within the law; and 
 
(c) clear policies that outline the steps taken to protect children from harm.  

 
 In determining an application for this permit, the Licensing Authority does not need to 

(but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any Gambling 
Commission guidance.  The Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions 

 Permit holders must comply with the following conditions specified in the Act: 

a) the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 
b) all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which 

the gaming is taking place and on one day;  the game must be played and completed 
on the day the chances are allocated;  and the result of the game must be made 
public in the premises on the day that it is played;  

c) the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and 

d) participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.   

 
10.4 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 

 Members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for 
a Club Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machines permit.  The Club Gaming Permit will 
enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), 
equal chance gaming and games of chance as set out in forthcoming regulations.  
Members Clubs and Miner’s Welfare Institutes and also Commercial Clubs may apply 
for a Club Machine Permit. A Club Gaming Machine permit will enable the premises to 
provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D). NB Commercial Clubs 
may not site category B3A gaming machines offering lottery games in their club. 

 Members clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted 
“wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by 
separate regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, which 
will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968. A Members club must be 

permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and controlled by its 
members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of the Royal British 
Legion and clubs with political affiliations.  

Page 52



Page 21 of 29 

 

 Licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that:  

a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or 
miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for 
which it has applied; 

b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons;  

c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities;   

d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or   
e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.    

 
 There is a ‘fast track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold a Club 

Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003. However, there is no opportunity for 
objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the grounds on which an 
Application may be refused are; 

a) that the Club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed under 
schedule 12; 

b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming; or 

c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last ten 
years has been cancelled.   

 
 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B 

or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision 
of a code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines. 

10.5 Temporary Use Notices 

 These allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no premises licence but 
where a person or company holding an operating licence wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  Currently this is restricted to the 
provision of facilities for equal chance gaming where the gaming is intended to produce 
a single winner, in essence, poker tournaments. The same set of premises may not be 
subject of a temporary use notice for more than 21 days in any 12 month period. There 
are also a number of statutory limits in relation to these notices. Notice must be given to 
the authority and other bodies, who may object to the grant of the notice having had 
regard to the licensing objectives. The definition of “a set of premises” will be a question 
of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice. In the Act “premises” is defined as 
including “any place”. In considering whether a place falls within the definition of “a set 
of premises”, the authority will need to consider, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises. The authority will take a strict view 
where it appears that the effect of the notices appears to permit regular gambling at a 
particular place.  

10.6 Occasional Use Notices 

 Occasional Use Notices refer specifically to betting at racetracks. The licensing authority 
has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring that the statutory 
limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. This licensing authority will though 
consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail 
him/herself of the notice.   

10.7 Small Society Lotteries  

Page 53



Page 22 of 29 

 

 This Licensing Authority will adopt a risk based approach towards its enforcement 
responsibilities for small lotteries. This Licensing Authority considers that the following 
list, although not exclusive, could affect the risk of the operator: 

a) Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three months 
after the date on which the lottery draw was held) 

b) Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns 
c) Breaches of the limits for small society lotteries. 

 
 Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial event, either 

as an incidental or principal activity at the event. Events are non-commercial if no part 
of the proceeds is for private profit or gain. The proceeds of such events may benefit 
one or more individuals if the activity is organised: 

a) by, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes 
b) to enable participation in, or support of, sporting, athletic, or cultural activities.  

 
11 Enforcement  

11.1 This Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and will endeavour to be: 

a) Proportionate: we will only intervene when necessary and remedies will be 
appropriate to the risk  posed; 

b) Accountable:  we will justify decisions, and be subject to public scrutiny; 
c) Consistent:  rules and standards will be joined up and implemented fairly; 
d) Transparent:  we will be open, and keep regulations simple and user friendly;  and 
e) Targeted:  we will focus on the problem, and minimise side effects.  

 
11.2 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities, this Licensing 

Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes as far as 
possible.   

11.3 This Licensing Authority will also adopt a risk-based inspection programme. The 
Gambling Commission Guidance suggests that the criteria the authority will utilise in this 
respect are included in this statement. However, the Local Better Regulation Office 
(responsible for co-ordinating regulatory functions) suggests that a planned intervention 
should only take place where the circumstances warrant such action. It is likely that a 
biannual inspection of licensed premises will be undertaken at the time of renewal of the 
premises licence. 

11.4 The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other 
permissions which it authorises. The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement 
body for the operating and personal licences.  It is also worth noting that concerns about 
manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the Licensing 
Authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission.   

11.5 This Statement proposes that a graduated response is taken where offences against 
gambling legislation are found or where licence conditions have been contravened. An 
isolated administrative offence, may be dealt with purely by way of written warning whilst 
more serious offences which have either been committed over a period of time or which 
have a significant impact upon the licensing  objectives, may result in a referral for 
prosecution. 

 

Page 54



Page 23 of 29 

 

11.6 Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this Licensing Authority’s 
enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon request to 
the Licensing Officer. Our risk methodology will also be available upon request. 

11.7 The Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers may have a number of 
premises within its area. In order to ensure that any non-compliance is recognised and 
resolved at the earliest stage, operators are requested to give the authority a single 
named point of contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom the authority will 
contact first should there be any compliance queries or should any issues arise. 

11.8 The Licensing Authority will seek to work actively with the Police, the Gambling 
Commission and other responsible authorities in enforcing gambling legislation. 

11.9 This Licensing Authority will continue to be a partner in the local licensing liaison group, 
and will keep itself informed of developments as regards to best practice in its 
consideration of the regulatory functions of local authorities. 

12 Complaints against a Licensed Premises 

12.1 The Licensing Authority will investigate relevant complaints against licensed premises 
of any description. In the first instance, complainants should raise the complaint directly 
with the licence holder or business concerned. All complaints will be investigated by the 
licensing department and enforcement action taken as deemed appropriate and 

proportionate to the findings and circumstances of each complaint. It is recognised that 

another agency may be the more appropriate body to investigate the complaint. In such 
circumstances, the Licensing Authority will maintain liaison with that agency. 

12.2 Where necessary, the Licensing Authority will initially arrange a meeting with the licence 
holder to address, clarify and try to resolve the issues of concern. 

12.3 This process will not override the right of any interested party or Responsible Authority 
to request a review of a licence by the Licensing Committee at any stage following the 
grant of a premises licence or if the particular concerns are not addressed in a way that 
fulfils the licensing objectives. 

13 Reviews 

13.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 
Responsible Authorities. However, it is for this Licensing Authority to decide whether the 
review is to be carried out. This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review:- 

a) is relevant to the matters listed below;  
b) is frivolous or vexatious; 
c) will certainly not cause this authority to wish alter/revoke/suspend the licence;  
d) is substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review.  

 
Relevant matters for a Review are where the grounds are: 

 
a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission; 
b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 
c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 
d) in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy.  

 
13.2 A premises licence may also be reviewed by the Licensing Authority of its own volition. 

 

Page 55



Page 24 of 29 

 

 In determining what action, if any should be taken following a review, the Licensing 
Authority will have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act, as well as 
any relevant representations. 

14 Appeals 

14.1 Any party aggrieved by a decision of the Licensing Sub Committee and with standing to 
appeal (as specified within the Act) may appeal against the decision to the local 
Magistrates Court. An appeal has to be started by the giving of a notice of appeal by the 
appellant to the ‘Magistrates’ Court within a period of 21 days from the day on which the 
appellant was notified by the Licensing Authority of the decision appealed against. This 
current local Court is St Albans Magistrates’ Court. 

14.2 The Licensing Authority will always be a respondent to the appeal, but in cases where a 
favourable decision has been made an applicant against the representations of a 
Responsible Authority or an interested party, the holder of the premises licence or club 
premises certificate will also be entitled to act as a respondent. 

14.3 On determining the appeal, the court may:  

  a) dismiss the appeal  
b) substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision which could have been 

made by the Licensing Authority; or  
 c) remit the case to the Licensing Authority to dispose of it in accordance with the 

direction of the court. 
 
14.4 The court may make such order as to costs as it thinks fit, but will be required to bear in 

mind guidance and legislation about the awarding of costs against a public body. 

15 Delegation and Decision Making 

15.1 One of the major principles underlying the Gambling Act 2005 is that the licensing 
functions contained within the Act should be delegated to an appropriate level so as to 
ensure speedy, efficient and cost effective service delivery. 

15.2 This Licensing Authority is committed to the principle of delegating its powers to ensure 
that these objective are met and has arranged for its licensing functions to be discharged 
in accordance with the Guidance issued by the Secretary of State, the Council’s 
Constitution and procedures laid down for good governance. The scheme of delegation 
can be found in the Council’s Constitution, which is available on the website. 

16 Covid-19, Coronavirus regulations 

16.1 All gambling premises must adhere to the most recent guidance passed down by the 
Government. Failure to do so may result in further action being taken against the 
premises licence.  

16.2 All premises applications must be accompanied by a risk assessment and how staff and 
the general public will be kept safe. 

16.3 Staff must undertake training in relation to infection control and how to safeguard 
themselves and the public. This must be logged on the individual staff training record. 

 

  

Page 56



Page 25 of 29 

 

APPENDIX 1 
List of Consultees 

 
- The Chief Officer of Police of Hertfordshire Constabulary 
- Bodies representing businesses in and residents in the area 
- Bodies representing the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses within 

Three Rivers District Council 
 

Bodies representing the interested persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise 
of the authority’s function under this Act 
 

- Bodies dealing with Mental Health issues  
- Citizens Advice Bureau 
- Gamblers Anonymous 
- The Gambling Commission  
- GamCare 
- Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
- Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
- The Licensing Authority for Three Rivers District 
- The local health and safety authority 
- The Authority responsible for Control of Pollution 
- Local Primary Care Trusts 
- HM Customs and Excise 

 

Residents Associations 

- Bricket Wood Residents' Association 
- Bridle Lane and Wagon Way Residents’ Association 
- Carpenders Park Residents’ Association 
- Chandlers Cross Residents’ Association 
- Chorleywood and District Residents’ Association 
- The Croxley Green Residents’ Association 
- Eastbury Residents’ Association 
- Furtherfield Residents’ Association 
- Gypsy Lane Residents' Group 
- Heronsgate Residents’ Association 
- Little Green Residents’ Association 
- Loudwater Residents’ Association 
- Oxhey Hall Residents’ Association 
- Rickmansworth and District Residents’ Association 
- Windmill Drive Residents Association 

 
Local authority Representations 

- Environmental Health Residential Standards Team, Three Rivers District Council 
- Head of Development Management, Planning Dept, Three Rivers District Council 

 
Local Chambers of Trade 

- Watford Chamber of Commerce 
- Rickmansworth Chamber of Business 
- Hertfordshire Chamber of Commerce 

 
All Three Rivers District Councillors 
 
Parish Councils 

- Abbots Langley Parish Council 
- Batchworth Community Council 
- Chorleywood Parish Council 
- Croxley Green Parish Council 

Page 57



Page 26 of 29 

 

- Sarratt Parish Council 
- Watford Rural Parish Council 

 
Local Authorities within the Hertfordshire District 

- Other Councils, including Aylesbury Vale DC, Buckinghamshire County Council, Chiltern 
and South Bucks DC, Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans and District Council Watford 
Borough Council,  and Wycombe DC 

 
National Trade Associations 

- The Bingo Association 
- British Beer and Pub Association 
- Association of British Bookmakers 
- Business in Sport and Leisure 
- Racecourse Association Limited 
- British Amusement Catering Trade Association  
- The National Casino Industry Forum 
- British Holiday & Home Parks Association 
- The Greyhound Board of Great Britain 
- The British Association of Leisure Parks, Piers & Attractions Ltd 

 
Note: This list is not intended to be exclusive. Comments and observations will be welcome 
from anyone who will be affected by the policy. 
 

Copies of the draft Gambling Statement of Principles is available at the Council office and on 
the Council’s website. 
  

Page 58



Page 27 of 29 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 Machine Category 

Premises Type A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 

Large Casino 
(Machine/table ratio of 
5-1 up to maximum) 

 Maximum if 150 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A), 

within the total limit of 150 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Small Casino 
(machine/table ratio of 
2-1 up to maximum) 

 Maximum of 80 Machines 
Any combination of machine in category B to D (except B3A), 

within the total limit of 80 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Pre-2005 Act Casinos 
(no machine/table 

ratio) 

 
Maximum of 20 Machines categories B to D (except B3A) or any 

number C to D machines instead 

Betting premises and 
tracks occupied by 

Pool Betting 

 

 Maximum of 4 machines categorised B2 to D (except B3A) 

Bingo Premises    Maximum of 20% of the total 
number of machines which are 

available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or B4** 

No Limit C or D 
machines 

Adult Gaming Centres    Maximum of 20% of the total 
number of machines which are 

available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or B4** 

No Limit C or D 
machines 

Family entertainment 
centres (with premises 

licence) 

     No limit on 
category C and D 

machines 

Family entertainment 
centres (with permit) 

      No limit on 
category D 
machines 

Club or miners’ welfare 
institutes with permits 

    Maximum of 3 machines in categories 
B3A or B4 to D* 

Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises with 

gaming machine 
permit 

     Number of 
category C or D 

machines as 
specified on permit 

Travelling Fair       No limit on 
category D 
machines  

 A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 

 
  

Page 59



Page 28 of 29 

 

APPENDIX 3 
TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS 
 

MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH FULL 
COUNCIL 

LICENSING COMMITTEE / 
SUB-COMMITTEE 

OFFICERS 

Three year licensing policy X   

Policy not to permit casinos X   

Fee Setting - when appropriate  X  

Application for premises 
licences  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Application for a variation to a 
licence  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Application for a transfer of a 
licence  

Where representations have 
been received from the 
Commission 

Where no representations 
received from the 
Commission 

Application for a provisional 
statement  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Review of a premises licence  X  

Application for club gaming 
/club machine permits in excess 
of the 2 permitted 

 
Where an application is for in 
excess of 4 machines. 

Up to 4 machines 

Cancellation of club gaming/ 
club machine permits 

 X  

Applications for other permits   X 

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits 

  X 

Consideration of temporary use 
notice 

  X 

Decision to give a counter-
notice to a temporary use 
notice 

 X  

 
  

Page 60



Page 29 of 29 

 

 
 
APPENDIX 4 
 

DATE ACTION 
 

Autumn 2005 Establishment of Gambling Commission  

May 2006 Guidance for Local Authorities published 

May 2006 Local Authorities to draft Licensing Policy Statement for Consultation 

December 2006 Licencing Policy Statement published 

February 2007 Local Authorities accept licensing applications 

1st September 2007 Full implementation 

December 2009 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2010 

December 2012 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2013 

December 2015 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2016 

December 2018 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2019 

June 2021 Review under way 

 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



D
R
A
FT

 

Statement of 
PrinciplesStatement of 
Principles 2025 to 2028 
 
 
 

Gambling ActUNDER SECTION 349 OF THE 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 

Three Rivers District Council 
 

Date: January 2025 to January 2028 

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Page 63



 
 

Page 1 of 39  

Contents 

Item Page 

Contents 11 

Executive Summary 23 

Three Rivers District Council Boundary 4 

1. Statement of Principles 5 

2. Licensing Objectives 5 

3. Responsible Authorities 7 

4. Interested Parties 8 

5. Exchange of information  9 

6. Licensing Authority Functions 9 

7. Premises Licences 11 

8. Local Risk Assessment 11 

8.4 Location 11 

8.5 Duplication with other regulatory regimes 12 

8.6 Conditions 12 

8.7 Door Supervisors 13 

8.8 Multiple Premises Licences 143 

8.9 Adult Gaming Centres 14 

8.10 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 15 

8.11 Casinos 15 

8.12 Bingo Premises 165 

8.13.Betting Premises  16 

8.14 Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBT’s) 16 

8.15 Tracks 17 

8.16 Travelling fairs 18 

9. Provisional Statements  18 

10. Permits / Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 18 

10.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 198 

10.2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 19 

10.3 Prize Gaming Permits  20 

10.4 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 210 

10.5 Temporary Use  221 

10.6 Occasional Use  221 

10.7 Small Society Lotteries  221 

11. Enforcement 23 

12. Complaints Against a Licensed Premises 243 

13. Reviews  24 

14. Appeals 25 

15. Delegation and Decision Making  25 

Appendix 1 – List of consultees16.  Covid 19 Coronavirus Regulations 2625 

Appendix 2 – Gaming Machines maximum stakes and 
payoutsAppendix 1 – List of consultees 

2827 

Appendix 3 – Table of delegated functionsAppendix 2 – Gaming 
Machines maximum stakes and payouts 

3927 

Appendix 4 – Statement of principles logAppendix 3 – Table of 
delegated functions 

3029 

Commented [MR1]: Think can remove now? 

Commented [LF2R1]: Deleted by way of tracked 
changes 

Page 64



 
 

Page 2 of 39  

Statement of Principles (Gambling Act 2005) 20222025-20285 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

The Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) introduced a new regime for regulating gambling and betting 
throughout the United Kingdom from 1 September 2017. Section 349 of the Act imposes a 
statutory duty upon licensing authorities to publish a Statement of Principles which they propose 
to apply when exercising their functions under the Act. The Gambling Commission guidance has 
since been updated from April 2021.  
 
The Act places a legal duty on both the Gambling Commission and licensing authorities to aim to 
permit gambling, in so far as it is considered to be reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives. The effect of this duty is that both the Commission and licensing authorities 
must approach their functions in a way that seeks to regulate gambling by using their powers, for 
example, powers to attach conditions to licences, to moderate its impact on the licensing 
objectives rather than by starting out to prevent it altogether.  
 
Three Rivers District Council must have regard to the Licensing Objectives namely:  
 

a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime;  

b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way;  

c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.  

 
It should be noted that this policy will not override the right of any person to make an application, 
make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence. Each application is 
determined on its own merits in accordance with the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 
2005.  
 
The Responsible Authorities must be consulted upon receipt of an application for or variation of a 
premises licence under the Act.  
 
Enforcement principles of the Licensing Authority are guided by the Gambling Commission 
guidance. We therefore endeavour to be proportionate, accountable, consistent, transparent, and 
targeted.  
 
Declaration  
In producing this Statement, Three Rivers District Council declares that it has had regard to the 
licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, 
and any responses received from those consulted on the Statement.  
 
Representations  
Interested parties may make representations in respect of applications and they may apply for a 
review of an existing licence. An interested party includes those living sufficiently close to a 
premises likely to be affected, have business interests that may be affected or a person who 
represents either of these types of people. Councillors and MPs may also be classed as interested 
parties.  
 
Applications and representations referred to a Licensing Sub-Committee for determination will be 
published in reports which are publicly available in accordance with legislation.  
 
Gaming Machines  
In relation to category C (or above) gaming machines on premises in which children are admitted, 
the authority will ensure that the machines are located in a separated area to which only adults 
are admitted and that access to this area is supervised. Notices indicating the restricted age 
access are expected to be displayed.  
 
Alcohol licensed premises are automatically entitled to have 2 gaming machines of category C 
and/or D however the Licensing Authority needs to be notified. In certain circumstances the 
Licensing Authority may remove this entitlement.  
 
Betting Machines  

Page 65



 
 

Page 3 of 39  

There is no evidence that betting machines (not gaming machines) give concern to regulatory 
matters however the Licensing Authority reserves the right to limit the number, nature and 
circumstances of these machines where there is evidence that their use may infringe the licensing 
objectives.  
 
Provisional Statements  
Following grant of a provisional statement, no further representations may be made from relevant 
authorities or interested parties unless they concern additional matters not previously considered 
within the provisional statement or concern the applicants change in circumstances.  
 
Premises  
Premises Licences are subject to mandatory and default conditions as per the requirements of the 
Act. The Licensing Authority may exclude default conditions and attach others where appropriate. 
Conditions must be proportionate and relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable 
as a gambling facility, directly related to the premises and type of licence applied for, fairly and 
reasonably related to the scale and type of premises and reasonable in all other aspects.  
 
Applications for a premises in which there are or would be multiple licences for a premises will be 
carefully considered to ensure different parts of the premises are not compromised and are 
separate so that people do not accidently enter the gambling area. The location of a premises will 
only be considered in terms of the licensing objectives.  
 
The Licensing Authority will avoid duplication with other statutory regimes and only consider 
concerns about conditions not being met due to restrictions in place by other regimes.  
 
There are a number ofseveral types of licensed premisespremises, but Three Rivers District 
currently only has licensed Betting Premises. Children are prohibited from these premises.  
 
Door Supervisors  
In order toTo achieve the licensing objectives, the Licensing Authority reserves the right to 
consider the use of door supervisors in certain circumstances.  
 
Reviews  
Reviews can be called by interested parties or Responsible Authorities but ultimately the Licensing 
Authority determines whether the review is to be carried out. In determination, the Licensing 
Authority will consider whether a review is frivolous or vexatious, will certainly not cause the 
Authority to alter, revoke or suspend a licence and will consider if the review is substantially the 
same as previous requests for a review. Grounds for a review would be those in accordance with 
relevant guidance or codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission, those consistent with 
the licensing objectives and statement of licensing policy.  
 
The Licensing Authority may initiate a review of a licence for any other appropriate reason.  
 
In cases of unlicensed premises, it is possible to hold licensed activities under temporary use 
notices and occasional use notices, but these are subject to statutory limitations. 

 
  

Page 66



 
 

Page 4 of 39  

Three Rivers District Council Boundary 

 
Three Rivers District Council is situated in the county of Hertfordshire, which contains 13 
district Councils in total.  
 
Three Rivers District covers an area spanning approximately 34 square miles, and has 
approximately 93,80089,500 residents (based upon Census data figures from 202113).  
 
The main populated areas in the district are Rickmansworth, Mill End and Maple Cross, 
Moor Park and parts of Northwood, Chorleywood, Croxley Green, Abbots Langley and 
South Oxhey/Carpenders Park. 
  

Page 67



 
 

Page 5 of 39  

1 Statement of Principles 

 
1.1 In accordance with statutory procedures, a review of this policy will take place 

every 3 years, to take into accountconsider information collated over a period of 
time, coupled with the outcomes of initiatives relating to gambling at central and 
local government level. The policy may also be subject to minor amendments 
from time to time, for example, when there are changes to relevant legislation; 
when this is necessary, changes will be authorised by the head of Regulatory 
Services, in consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee. 

  
1.2 Nothing in this Statement of Principles will: 

a) Undermine the right or any person to apply under the Act for a variety 
of permissions and have the application considered on its own merits; 
or,  

b) Override the right of any person to make representations on any 
application or seek a review of a licence or permit where they are 
permitted to do so under the Act. 
 

1.3 The starting point in determining applications will be to grant the application with 
only mandatory and default conditions, so long as this can be achieved in a 
manner which is: 

a) In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission; 

b) In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

c) Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 
d) In accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principle. 

 

 Licensing authorities are however, able to exclude default conditions and also 
attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate. It is appreciated that as per 
the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities “moral or ethical 
objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises 
licences” and, in addition to this, unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing 
authority. 

  

1.4  

1.41.5 Three Rivers District Council has consulted widely upon this statement before 
finalising and publishing it. A full list of those consulted is at Appendix 1. Copies 
of this consultation version are in Three Rivers House and on the Council 
website. 

 
1.51.6 The overriding principle is that all applications and the circumstances prevailing 

at each premises will be considered on its own individual merits. When applying 
these principles, the Licensing Authority will consider, in the light of relevant 
representations, whether exceptions should be made in any particular case. 

 
1.61.7 The final policy has been considered by Full Council and will be published on 

our Three Rivers District Council website, as well as being available in Three 
Rivers House, on request. 

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: C2, Left

Page 68

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


 
 

Page 6 of 39  

 

2 2. Licensing objectives 

 
2.1 2.1  Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the 

licensing objectives. With regard to these objectives, this Licensing Authority has 
considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities. 

 
2.2 2.1  Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime. 

 
2.3 2.1.1  This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be 

taking a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The 
Gambling Commission's Guidance does however envisage that licensing 
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this licensing objective. Thus, where an area has known high levels 
of crime this authority will consider carefully whether gambling premises are 
suitable to be located there and whether conditions may be suitable such as the 
provision of door supervisors.  This Licensing Authority is aware of the distinction 
between disorder and nuisance and will consider factors such as whether police 
assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who 
could see it, so as to make that distinction.  Issues of nuisance cannot be 
addressed via the Gambling Act provisions. 

 
2.4 2.1.2  Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. 

 
 2.1.2.1  This Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission 

has stated that it would generally not expect licensing authorities to become 
concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. This 
will be addressed via operating and personal licences.   

 
 
2.5 2.1. 3  Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling 

 
 2.1.3.1    This Licensing Authority has noted that this objective means 

preventing children from taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of 
advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at, or are particularly 
attractive to, children).  The Licensing Authority will therefore consider whether 
specific measures are required at particular premisespremises, with regard to 
this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may include supervision of 
entrances/machines, segregation of areas etc.  

 
 2.1.3.2   When determining an application to grant a premises licence or 

review a premises licence, regard will be taken to the proximity of the premises 
to schools, vulnerable adult centres or residential areas where there may be a 
high concentration of families with children. The proximity of premises taken into 
consideration will vary depending on the size and scope of the gambling 
premises concerned. Each case will, however, be decided on its merits. 
Therefore, if an applicant can effectively demonstrate how they might overcome 

Formatted: C1, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 69



 
 

Page 7 of 39  

concerns relating to the licensing objectives, this will also be taken into 
accountconsidered. 

 
 2.1.3.3  As regards the term “vulnerable persons”, this Licensing Authority 

will, for regulatory purposes, assume that this group includes people who: 

• gamble more than they want to;  

• gamble beyond their means; and  

• may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.   

 
 2.1.3.4   This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing 

objective on a case by casecase-by-case basis.  

 
 2.1.3.5  This Licensing Authority will also make itself aware of the Codes 

of Practice that the Gambling Commission issues as regards this licensing 
objective, in relation to specific premises such as casinos.  

  
 2.1.3.6  This Licensing Authority will also ensure that, where category C or 

above [see Appendix 2 for an explanation of the categories] machines are on 
offer in premises to which children are admitted: 

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier 
which is effective to prevent access other than through a designated 
entrance; 

• only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are 
located; 
access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

• the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can 
be observed by the staff or the licence holder; and 

• at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

 
 2.1.3.7    These considerations will apply to premises including 

buildings where multiple premises licences are applicable. 

 
 2.1.3.8    Betting Machines (machines on a shop floor where 

customer can place a bet without having to visit the counter, not to be confused 
with fixed odds betting machines or amusement with prizes machines). While 
the authority has discretion as to the number, nature and circumstances of the 
use of betting machines, there is no evidence that such machines give rise to 
regulatory concerns. This authority will consider limiting the number of machines 
only where there is clear evidence that such machines have been, or are likely 
to be, used in breach of the licensing objectives. Where there is such evidence 
this authority may consider, when reviewing the licence, the ability of staff to 
monitor the use of such machines from the counter. 

 
 2.1.3.9  This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one 

or more than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified 
area of the track.  As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this Licensing 
Authority will consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the need 

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 70



 
 

Page 8 of 39  

to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children 
are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 
3 3.          Responsible Authorities 

 
3.1 3.1  The responsible authorities, being public bodies to be notified of 

applications and who are entitled to make representations to the Licensing 
Authority pursuant to the licensing objectives, for the purposes of the Act are: 

1. The Gambling Commission  
2. Hertfordshire Constabulary 
3. Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
4. Head of Development Management, Planning Dept, Three Rivers 

District Council 
5. Environmental Health Residential Standards Team, Three Rivers 

District Council 
6. Enforcing Authority: Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
7. Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
8. HM Revenues and Customs 

 
Full contact details for the responsible authorities will be made 
available on the Council website at 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/licensing/gambling-
licensinghttps://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/licensing 

 
3.2 3.2  The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it 

will apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, 
in writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection 
of children from harm.  The principles are: 

• the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the 
whole of the Licensing Authority’s area; and 

• the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected 
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group. 

 
3.3 This authority designates the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board at 

Hertfordshire County Council for this purpose. 

 
4 4.   Interested Parties 

 
4.1 4.1  Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or 

apply for a review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as a person who: 

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 
affected by the authorised activities, 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) above.” 

 
4.2 4.2  The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it 

will apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are:   

Formatted: C1, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  3 cm, Tab stops: Not at  5.08

cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: C1, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 71



 
 

Page 9 of 39  

• Each case will be decided upon its merits.  

• This Licensing Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision 
making.   

• This Licensing Authority will consider the examples of 
considerations concerning these matters provided in the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities but may 
not follow it in every case. 

 
4.3 4.3  Interested parties include trade associations and trade unions, and 

residents’ and tenants’ associations (Gambling Commission Guidance for local 
authorities 8.17).  This Licensing Authority will not however generally view these 
bodies as interested parties at a Hearing unless they have a member who can 
be classed as an interested person under the terms of the Gambling Act 2005 
(i.e. lives sufficiently close to the premises to be affected by the activities being 
applied for). 

 
4.4 4.4  Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as 

Councillors and MPs.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an 
interested person will be required as long asif the Councillor/MP represents the 
ward to be affected.  Likewise, parish councils to be affected will be considered 
to be interested parties.  Other than these however, this authority will generally 
require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate / relative) 
‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
affected by the authorised activities and/or has business interests that might be 
affected by the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons, 
requesting the representation, is sufficient. 

 
4.5 4.5  If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their 

views then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the Licensing 
Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are any doubts then 
please contact the Lead Licensing Officer. 

 
4.6 4.6  A vexatious representation is generally taken to be one which is repetitive, 

without foundation or made for some other reason such as malice.  A frivolous 
representation is generally taken to be one that is lacking in seriousness, or is 
unrelated to the licensing objectives, guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission or this statement of licensing policy. 

 
5 5.   Exchange of Information 

5.1 5.1  The principle that this Licensing Authority applies is that it will act in 
accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of 
information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 will 
not be contravened.  The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to local authorities on this matter 
when it is published, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary 
of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. Should any 
protocols be established as regards information exchange with other bodies then 
they will be made publicly available. 

 
5.2 5.2  Details of applications and representations which are referred to a 

Licensing sub-Committee for determination will be published in reports that are 
made publicly available in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 and 

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C1, Left

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 72



 
 

Page 10 of 39  

the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  Personal details of people making 
representations will be disclosed to applicants and only be withheld from 
publication on the grounds of personal safety where the Licensing Authority is 
asked to do so. 

 
6 6.   Licensing Authority functions 

6.1 6.1  Three Rivers District Council has a duty under the Act to licence premises 
where gambling is to take place, and to license certain other activities.  

 
6.2  62.  ‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in 

a lottery. In particular, the Licensing Authority is responsible for: 

a) the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take 
place by issuing Premises Licences; 

b) Issuing Provisional Statements; 
c) regulating members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes which 

wish to undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club 
Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine Permits; 

d) issuing Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs; 
e) granting permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming 

machines at unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres; 
f) receiving notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the 

Licensing Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines; 
g) issuing Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for 

premises licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the 
licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where there 
are more than two machines; 

h) registering small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds; 
i) issuing Prize Gaming Permits; 
j) receiving and Endorse Temporary Use Notices; 
k) receiving Occasional Use Notices; 
l) providing information to the Gambling Commission regarding 

details of licences issued (see section above on ‘information 
exchange’); 

m) maintaining registers of the permits and licences that are issued 
under these functions. 

 
6.3 6.2  It should be noted that local licensing authorities are not involved in 

licensing remote gambling (being where persons participate in gambling 
activities by use of remote communication such as the internet, telephone, 
television or other electronic facilitating communication) at all.  This will fall to 
the Gambling Commission via operating licences. 

 
6.4 6.3  The Gambling Commission is responsible for the regulation of gambling 

and betting except for National Lottery and spread betting through the licensing 
of the operators and individuals involved in providing gambling and betting 
facilities. 

  
6.5 6.4  In 2021 the Government increased the minimum age to play the National 

lottery to 18 years. 

  

Formatted: C1

Formatted: C2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 73



 
 

Page 11 of 39  

7 7  Premises Licences 

7.1 An application for a premises licence can only be made by a person or company 
who either holds an operating licence authorising him to carry on the activity in 
respect of which a premises licence is sought, OR has made an application for 
an operating licence which has not yet been determined.   

 
7.2 Applications for the grant, transfer or variation of a premises licence must be 

accompanied by an assessment that demonstrates how the applicant will 
promote all of the licensing objectives in the form of a written Operating 
Schedule. The applicant may ask the authority for advice as to the scope of 
information to be provided.  

 
7.2.17.3 The level of detail to be provided will be advised by the authority and will be 

proportional to the scale and nature of the application made. 

 
8 8.   Local Risk Assessments 

8.1 8.1  From 6 April 2016 it is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s 
Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), for licensees to assess the 
local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provisions of gambling 
facilities at their premises, Licensees must have policies, procedures and control 
measures to mitigate risks that have been identified. In making risk 
assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in this 
policy. 

 
8.2 8.2  The LCCP goes on to say licensees must review (and update as 

necessary) their local risk assessments: 

• To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, 
including those identified in this policy 

• there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may 
affect their mitigation of local risks 

• When applying for a variation of a premise licence and 

• In any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for 
a new premises licence. 

 
8.3 8.3  The Council will expect the local risk assessment to consider as a 

minimum: 

• Whether the premises is in an area of deprivation 

• Whether the premises is in and area subject to high levels of crime 
and/or disorder 

• The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups 

• The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 
toy shops, leisure centres and other areas where children will 
gather. 

• Significant presence of young children, both residents and visitors 

• High unemployment area 

• Nearby homeless hostels 

• Nearby gambling, alcohol, drug or mental health support facility 

• The area has a high number of rough sleepers/homeless people 
 

Formatted: C1, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: C2, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: C1, Left

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 74



 
 

Page 12 of 39  

8.4 8.4   Location 

 8.4.1  This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be 
considered with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in 
terms of the licensing objectives can. This authority will pay particular attention 
to the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder.  Should any 
specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling premises 
should not be located, this statement will be updated.  It should be noted that 
any such policy does not preclude any application being made and each 
application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant to show 
how potential concerns can be overcome.   

 
8.5 8.5  Duplication with other regulatory regimes  

 8.5.1 This Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other 
statutory/regulatory systems where possible, including Planning.  This authority 
will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval.  It will listen to, and consider 
carefully, any concerns about conditions that cannot be met by licensees due to 
planning restrictions, should such a situation arise. 

 
8.6 8.6   Conditions  

 8.6.1  Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will 
be: 

 
a) relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as 

a gambling facility; 
b) directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied 

for; 
c) fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; 

and 
d) reasonable in all other respects.  

 
 8.6.2  Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 

although there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will 
consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc.  There are specific 
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below. This 
Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to ways in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively. 

 
 8.6.3  This licensing authority will also consider specific measures that may be 

required for buildings that are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such 
measures may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling 
from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming 
machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order toto pursue the 
licensing objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance. 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 75



 
 

Page 13 of 39  

 8.6.4  This authority will also ensure that, where category C or above [see 
Appendix 2 for an explanation of the categories] machines are on offer in 
premises to which children are admitted: 

a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier 
which is effective to prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance; 

b) only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are 
located; 

c) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 
d) the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it 

can be observed by the staff or the licence holder; and 
e) at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 

displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

 
 8.6.5 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where 

multiple premises licences are applicable. 

 
 8.6.6  Betting Machines (machines on a shop floor where customer can place a 

bet without having to visit the counter) (not to be confused with fixed odds betting 
machines or amusement with prizes machines) - while the authority has 
discretion as to the number, nature and circumstances of the use of betting 
machines, there is no evidence that such machines give rise to regulatory 
concerns.  This authority will consider limiting the number of machines only 
where there is clear evidence that such machines have been, or are likely to be, 
used in breach of the licensing objectives.  Where there is such evidence this 
authority may consider, when reviewing the licence, the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of such machines from the counter. 

 
 8.6.7  This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 

than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of 
the track.  As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority 
will consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure 
that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 

 8.6.8 It is noted that there are conditions that the licensing authority cannot 
attach to premises licences which are: 

a) any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible 
to comply with an operating licence condition;  

b) conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or 
method of operation; 

c) conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be 
required (the Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the 
membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this 
provision prevents it being reinstated); and 

d) conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes. 
 

8.7 8.7   Door Supervisors  

 

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Page 76



 
 

Page 14 of 39  

 8.7.1  Consideration should be given whether there is a need for door 
supervisors in terms of the licensing objectives of protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in 
terms of preventing premises becoming a source of crime.  

 
 8.7.2 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door 

supervisors for the protection of the public.  The authority will make a door 
supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading 
at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the 
counter and that door supervision is both necessary and proportionate. 

 
 8.7.3  It is noted though that in-house staff at casinos and bingo premises need 

not be licensed by the Security Industry Authority (SIA) although this would be 
preferable in helping meet the licensing objectives. Where operators and the 
Licensing Authority consider that supervision of entrances and machines is 
appropriate in particular cases, it will be decided whether these need to be SIA 
licensed on a case by casecase-by-case basis. 

 
8.8 8.8   Multiple Premises Licences  

 
 8.8.1 Premise is defined in the Act as “any place”, Different premises licences 

cannot apply in respect of a single premises at different times. However, it is 
possible for a single building to be subject to more than one premises licence, 
provided they are for different parts of the building and the different parts of the 
building can be reasonably regarded as being different premises. Whether 
different parts of a building can be properly regarded as being separate premises 
will always be a question of fact in the circumstances. However, the Gambling 
Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially or 
temporarily separate can be properly regarded as different premises. 

 

 8.8.2 In considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those 
relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes, 
entrances and exits from parts of the building covered by one or more licences 
should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises 
is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. In this 
context it should normally be possible to access the premises without going 
through another licensed premises or premises with a permit. 

 
 8.8.3 The Licensing Authority will consider, amongst others, the factored 

outlined in the Gambling Commission guidance when deciding upon the extent 
of separation of licensable premises. In particular, due regard will be given to 
the specific requirements relating to entrances and exits to particular types of 
licensable premises. 

 
 8.8.4 It should be noted that a licence to use a remises for gambling should only 

be issued in relation to premises that the Licensing Authority can be satisfied 
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of the building or alterations required before the 
premises are brought into use. If the construction is not yet complete, or if they 
need alteration, or if the applicant does not yet have the right to occupy them, 
then an application for a provisional statement should be made instead. 

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 77



 
 

Page 15 of 39  

 
 8.8.5 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 

outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, applications will be 
determined on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process: 

a) Whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for 
gambling; 

b) Whether appropriate conditions can be applied to the situation 
whereby the premises are not yet in the condition in which they 
ought to be before gambling can take place. 

 
 8.8.6  Applicants should note that the Licensing Authority is entitled to decide 

whether it is appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but is not 
obliged to grant such a licence. 

 
8.9 8.9   Adult Gaming Centres 

 

 8.3.6.1  There are currently no Adult Gaming Centres within the 
District. 

 Should this situation change then this Licensing Authority will expect applicants 
to offer their own measures to meet the licensing objectives. However, 
appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues such as: 

a) Proof of age schemes; 
b) CCTV; 
c) Supervision of entrances / machine areas; 
d) Physical separation of areas. 
e) Location of entry: 
f) Notices/signage 

g) Specific opening hours; 
h) Self-exclusion schemes on recommendation of police or families 
i) Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for 

organisations such as Gamcare. 
 

8.10  8.10.   (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres: 

 
 8.10.1  There are currently no Family Entertainment Centres within 

the District. 

 
 8.10.2  Should this situation change then this Licensing Authority will have 

regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being 
exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, that 
there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machine areas. 

 
 8.10.3 This Licensing Authority my consider measures to meet the 

licensing objectives such as  

a) CCTV; 
b) Proof of age schemes; 
c) Supervision of entrances / machine areas; 
d) Physical separation of areas; 

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2

Formatted: C3

Formatted: C3, Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: C2

Formatted: C3

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 78



 
 

Page 16 of 39  

e) Location of entry; 
f) Notices / signage; 
g) Specific opening hours; 
a)h) Self-barring schemes; 
b)i) Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare; 
c)j) Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant 

school children on the premises. 
 

 8.10.4 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative 
of example measures. 

 
 8.10.5 This Licensing Authority will refer to the Commission’s website to 

see any conditions that apply to operating licences covering the way in which 
the area containing the category C machines should be delineated.  This 
Licensing Authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default 
conditions on these premises licences, when they have been published.   

 
8.11 8.11  Casinos 

 
 8.11.1 8.11.1  Currently there are no casinos operating within the District. 

Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 enables a licensing authority to resolve 
not to issue casino licences. The previous resolution which was originally passed 
in October 2006 was removed by the Council in 2021.  

Currently there are no casinos operating within the District. Section 166 of the Gambling 
Act 2005, enables a licensing authority to resolve not to issue casino 
licences. A resolution was originally passed by full Council on 17 October 
2006 with effect from 17 October 2006 not to issue casino premises 
licences and further resolutions passed on review of the Statement of 
Policy.  The Council will continue not to accept applications for casino 
premises licenced within the Three Rivers District and a resolution was 
passed to this effect by full Council on XX  XXXX 2024 with effect from XX 
XXXX 2025 

 Should this licensing authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it 
will update this policy statement with details of that resolution. Any such decision 
will be made by the Full Council.  

 Notwithstanding the above, at present, no such resolution is necessary because 
the Act gives the licensing authority no power to issue casino licences in any 
eevent. 

  

  

   

8.12 8.12   Bingo Premises 

 
 8.12.1  There are currently no bingo premises within the District.  

 
 8.12.2   Should this situation change, the Gambling Commission 

Guidance states: 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: First line:  1.77 cm,

Space Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt, Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment:

Left + Aligned at:  0.85 cm + Indent at:  1.48 cm, Tab

stops: Not at  2.22 cm +  3.49 cm +  4.76 cm +  6.03 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering

Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned

at:  0 cm + Indent at:  1.5 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, Hanging:  1.5 cm,  No

bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, Hanging:  1.5 cm,  No

bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 79



 
 

Page 17 of 39  

 
 8.12.3 It is important that, if children are allowed to enter premises 

licensed for bingo, they do not participate in gambling, other than on category D 
machines.  Where category C or above machines are available in premises to 
which children are admitted, this Licensing Authority will ensure that: 

a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is 
effective to prevent access other than through a designated 
entrance 

b) only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located 
c) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can 
be observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and at 
the entrance to, and inside, any such area there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 
 

 8.12.4 All current and future guidance by the Gambling Commission will 
also be taken into consideration when considering such applications. 

 
8.13 8.13  Betting premises 

 
 8.13.1  This Licensing Authority will take into account the size of the 

premises, the number of counter positions available for person–to-person 
transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by 
children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable people, when considering the number /nature/circumstances of 
betting machines an operator wants to offer. 

 8.13.2 This Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have 
a number of premises within its area. In order to ensure that any compliance 
issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest stage, operator are requested 
to give the authority a single point of contact, who should be a senior individual, 
and whom the authority will contact should any compliance queries or issues 
arise. 

 
8.14 8.14  Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBT’s) 

  
 8.14.1 In respect to nationally expressed concerns that exist in relation to 

the potentially adverse impact FOBT’s may have on vulnerable groups of adults, 
the Licensing Authority will give due consideration to the need to apply 
conditions to betting shop premises licences including, but not limited to, setting 
out minimum staffing levels to ensure sufficient staff are on the premises to 
enable staff to comprehensively promote responsible gambling, adequately 
protect players, particularly in relation to players who are deemed to be 
vulnerable and to prevent under 18 year olds accessing gambling facilities. 

 
 8.14.2 The Licensing Authority expects FOBT’s to be positioned in such 

a way that they can be appropriately monitored by staff particularly where those 
staff are positioned at a counter away from the machines. In general the 
Licensing Authority is of the view that ‘privacy screens’ will hamper this and will 
expect the local area risk assessment to take this into account where applicants 

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 80



 
 

Page 18 of 39  

intend to construct such screens. Particular attention should be paid to the 
Gambling Commission’s Social Responsibility Codes in this regard.  Where an 
existing licensee adds ‘privacy screens’ a variation application will be required 

 
8.15 8.15  Tracks 

 
 8.15.1 A track is a site where races or other sporting events take place. 

There are currently no tracks within the district. Should this situation change 
tracks maybe subject to one or more than one premises licence, provided each 
licence relates to a specified area of the track. The Licensing Authority will 
especially consider the impact upon third licensing objective (i.e. the protection 
of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) 
and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and 
that children are excluded from the gambling areas where they are not permitted 
to enter. 

 
 8.15.2 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the 

licensing objectives such as; 

a) Plans of designated areas 
b) Proof of age schemes 
c) CCTV 
d) Supervision of entrances / machine areas 
e) Physical separation of areas 
f) Location of entry 
g) Notices / signage 
h) Specific opening hours 
i) Self-exclusion schemes on recommendation of police or families 
j) Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare. Also, information on other 
diversionary leisure activities. 
 

 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

 
 8.15.3  Gaming Machines – Applications for track premises licences will 

need to demonstrate that, where the applicant holds a pool betting operating 
licence and is going to use his entitlement to four gaming machines, these 
machines are located in areas from which children are excluded. Children and 
young persons are not prohibited from playing category D gaming machines on 
a track. 

 
 8.15.4 Betting machines – Account will be taken of the size of the 

premises and ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and 
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable 
people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines 
an operator wants to offer. 

 
 8.15.5 Condition on rules being displayed – The Gambling Commission 

has advised in its Guidance for local authorities that “…licensing authorities 
should attach a condition to track premises licences requiring the track operator 
to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 81



 
 

Page 19 of 39  

or that other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the 
public. For example, the rules could be printed in the race-card or made 
available in leaflet form from the track office”. 

 
 8.15.6  Applications and plans – Although the precise location of where 

betting facilities are provided is not required to be shown on track plans, 
applications should provide sufficient information so that the Licensing Authority 
can satisfy itself that the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take 
place. In particular, betting rings must be indicated on the plan. In circumstances 
where are perimeter is not defined, for example in point-t-point racing where an 
entry fee is levied, temporary structures restricting access to the premises can 
be used. 

 
 8.15.7 This Licensing Authority also notes that in the Commissioner’s 

view, it would be preferable for all self-contained premises operated by off-
course betting operators on track to be the subject of separate premises 
licences, to ensure that there is clarity between the respective responsibilities of 
the track operator and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained 
unit on the premises. 

 
 8.15.8 The Commissioner considers the track premises licence holders 

should accept some accountability for promoting socially responsible gambling 
on their premises and that the level of responsibility should be commensurate 
with the volume and intensity of gambling that occurs on their premises. 

 
8.16 8.16  Travelling Fairs 

 
 8.16.1 This licensing authority will decide whether, where category D 

machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement is met that the 
facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair 
is met. 

 
 8.16.2  The Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant 

falls within the statutory definition of a travelling fair. 

 
 8.16.3  It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land 

being used as a fair, is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land 
on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different 
travelling fairs occupying the land. This licensing authority will work with its 
neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is 
monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 
9.9 Provisional Statements 

 
9.1 9.1  Following the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations 

from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless 
they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances. In 

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C1, Left,  No bullets or numbering, Tab

stops: Not at  2.25 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 82



 
 

Page 20 of 39  

addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters: 

(a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional 
licence stage; or  

(b) which, in the authority’s opinion, reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances.  

 
9.2 9.2  This Licensing Authority noted the Commission’s Guidance that “a 

licensing authority will not take into account irrelevant matters, i.e. the likelihood 
of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval 
for the proposal”.  

 
10 10   Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 

 
10.1 10.1.   Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming 

machine permits  

 10.1.1   Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but 
wishes to provide gaming machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for 
this permit.  It should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises 
will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use. 

 
 10.1.2   The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority 

may prepare a statement of principles that they propose to consider in 
determining the suitability of an applicant for a permit and in preparing this 
statement, and/or considering applications, it need not but may have regard to 
the licensing objectives and shall have regard to nay relevant guidance issued 
by the Commission. 

 
 10.1.3   An application for a permit may be granted only if the 

Licensing Authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed 
FEC, and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the application. This 
Licensing Authority will ask applicants to demonstrate: 

 
a) a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the 

gambling that are permissible in unlicensed FECs; 
b) that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set 

out in Schedule 7 of the Act; and 
c) that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum 

stakes and prizes. (24.7)  
It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to 
this type of permit. 
 

 10.1.4  This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there 
are policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this 
context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures may include 
appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school 
children on the premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with 
unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing 
perceived problems on/around the premises. 

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C1, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Page 83



 
 

Page 21 of 39  

 
10.2  10.2.   (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 

 
 10.2.1  There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol 

for consumption on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the Licensing 
Authority.  If the person ceases to be on- premises alcohol licence for the 
premises, the automatic entitlement two gaming machine also ceases. Whoever 
applies for the new premises alcohol licence will also need to apply under S282 
(2), notifying the Licensing Authority of their intention to make the gaming 
machines available for use and paying the prescribed fee. If the alcohol licence 
ceases to have effect because it is suspended the gaming machines cannot be 
used. The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect 
of any premises if:  

a) provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the 
pursuit of the licensing objectives 

b) gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a 
condition of section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written 
notice has been provided to the Licensing Authority, that a fee 
has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued 
by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of 
the machine has been complied with); 

c) the premises are mainly used for gaming;  
or 
 

d) an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the 
premises. 

 
 10.2.2 If an applicant wishes to have more than 2 machines, then they 

need to apply for a permit and the Licensing Authority must consider that 
application based upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and 
“such matters as they think relevant.”  This Licensing Authority considers that 
“such matters” will be decided on a case-by-case basis but generally there will 
be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling.  We will expect the applicant to satisfy the 
authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under-18-year-olds 
do not have access to the adult-only gaming machines.  Measures which will 
satisfy the authority that there will be no access may include the adult machines 
being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines 
are not being used by those under 18.  Notices and signage may also help.  As 
regards the protection of vulnerable persons, applicants may wish to consider 
the provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. The Council’s Licensing Committee has delegated the issuing of a 
permit for up to 2 machines to the Lead Licensing Officer/Licensing Officer, with 
any application more than 2 to be subject to consideration by the Committee. 

 
 10.2.3   It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may 

apply for a premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such 
application would most likely need to be applied for and dealt with as an Adult 
Gaming Centre premises licence. 

 
 10.2.4   In such circumstances, the Licensing Authority can decide 

to grant the application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 84



 
 

Page 22 of 39  

category of machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot 
be attached. 

 
 10.2.5   The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of 

Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation 
of the machine(s). 

 
10.3 10.3.   Prize Gaming Permits  

 
 10.3.1  Applicants for these permits should set out the types of gaming 

that he or she is intending to demonstrate:  

a) that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set 
out in Regulations;  

b) the gaming offered is within the law; and 
c) clear policies that outline the steps taken to protect children from 

harm.  
  

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 85



 
 

Page 23 of 39  

 10.3.2  In determining an application for this permit, the Licensing 
Authority does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but 
must have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance. The Licensing 
Authority cannot attach conditions. 

 
 10.3.3  Permit holders must comply with the following conditions specified 

in the Act: 

a) the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be 
complied with 

b) all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the 
premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day the 
game must be played and completed on the day the chances are 
allocated and the result of the game must be made public in the 
premises on the day that it is played 

c) the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the 
amount set out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed 
value (if non-monetary prize) and 

d) participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part 
in any other gambling.   
 

10.4 10.4   Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 

 
 10.4.1  Members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial 

Clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machines permit.  
The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines 
(3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of 
chance as set out in forthcoming regulations.  Members Clubs and Miner’s 
Welfare Institutes and Commercial Clubs may apply for a Club Machine Permit. 
A Club Gaming Machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D). NB Commercial Clubs may not 
site category B3A gaming machines offering lottery games in their club. 

 
 10.4.2  Members clubs must have at least 25 members and be established 

and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming unless the 
gaming is permitted by separate regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover 
bridge and whist clubs, which will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 
1968. A Members club must be permanent in nature, not established to make 
commercial profit, and controlled by its members equally.  Examples include 
working men’s clubs, branches of the Royal British Legion and clubs with 
political affiliations.  

 
  Licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 

a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not 
entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied 

b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children 
and/or young persons 

c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been 
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities  

d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the 
previous ten years or   

e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.   

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Page 86



 
 

Page 24 of 39  

 
 10.4.4.  There is a ‘fast track’ procedure available under the Act for 

premises which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003. 
However, there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission 
or the police, and the grounds on which an Application may be refused are; 

a) that the Club is established primarily for gaming, other than 
gaming prescribed under schedule 12; 

b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides 
facilities for other gaming; or 

c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the 
applicant in the last ten years has been cancelled.   
 

 10.4.5 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child 
uses a category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies 
with any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation 
of gaming machines. 

 
10.0510.5 Temporary Use Notices 

 
 10.5.1  These allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 

premises licence but where a person or company holding an operating licence 
wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  
Currently this is restricted to the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming 
where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, in essence, poker 
tournaments. The same set of premises may not be subject of a temporary use 
notice for more than 21 days in any 12-month period. There are also several 
statutory limits in relation to these notices. Notice must be given to the authority 
and other bodies, who may object to the grant of the notice having had regard 
to the licensing objectives. The definition of “a set of premises” will be a question 
of fact in the circumstances of each notice. In the Act “premises” is defined as 
including “any place”. In considering whether a place falls within the definition of 
“a set of premises”, the authority will need to consider, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises. The authority will take a strict 
view where it appears that the effect of the notices appears to permit regular 
gambling at a particular place.  

 
10.6 10.6   Occasional Use Notices: 

 
 10.6.1  Occasional Use Notices refer specifically to betting at racetracks. 

The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside 
from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. 
This licensing authority will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether 
the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.   

 
10.7 10.7   Small Society Lotteries  

 
 10.7.1  This Licensing Authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards 

its enforcement responsibilities for small lotteries. This Licensing Authority 
considers that the following list, although not exclusive, could affect the risk of 
the operator: 

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 87



 
 

Page 25 of 39  

a) Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later 
than three months after the date on which the lottery draw was 
held) 

b) Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns 
c) Breaches of the limits for small society lotteries. 

 
 10.7.2  Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-

commercial event, either as an incidental or principal activity at the event. Events 
are non-commercial if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain. The 
proceeds of such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is 
organised: 

 
a) by, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes 
b) to enable participation in, or support of, sporting, athletic, or 

cultural activities.  
  
11.11 Enforcement  

 
11.1 11.1  This Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the 

Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and will endeavour to be: 

a) Proportionate: we will only intervene when necessary and 
remedies will be appropriate to the risk posed 

b) Accountable:  we will justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny 

c) Consistent:  rules and standards will be joined up and 
implemented fairly 

d) Transparent:  we will be open, and keep regulations simple 
and user friendly and 

e) Targeted:  we will focus on the problem and minimise side 
effects.  
 

11.2 11.2  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities, this 
Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory 
regimes as far as possible.   

 
11.3 11.3  This Licensing Authority will also adopt a risk-based inspection 

programme. The Gambling Commission Guidance suggests that the criteria the 
authority will utilise in this respect are included in this statement. However, the 
Local Better Regulation Office (responsible for co-ordinating regulatory 
functions) suggests that a planned intervention should only take place where the 
circumstances warrant such action. It is likely that a biannual inspection of 
licensed premises will be undertaken at the time of renewal of the premises 
licence. 

 
11.4 11.4  The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in 

terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the premises 
licences and other permissions which it authorises. The Gambling Commission 
will be the enforcement body for the operating and personal licences. It is also 
worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the Licensing Authority but will be notified to 
the Gambling Commission.   

 

Formatted: C3, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C1, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Page 88



 
 

Page 26 of 39  

11.5 11.5  This Statement proposes that a graduated response is taken where 
offences against gambling legislation are found or where licence conditions have 
been contravened. An isolated administrative offence, may be dealt with purely 
by way of written warning whilst more serious offences which have either been 
committed over a period of time or which have a significant impact upon the 
licensing objectives, may result in a referral for prosecution. 

 
11.6 11.6  Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this Licensing Authority’s 

enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon 
request to the Licensing Officer.  Our risk methodology will also be available 
upon request. 

 
11.7 11.7  The Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers may have a 

number of several premises within its area. In order toTo ensure that any non-
compliance is recognised and resolved at the earliest stage, operators are 
requested to give the authority a single named point of contact, who should be 
a senior individual, and whom the authority will contact first should there be any 
compliance queries or should any issues arise. 

 
11.8  The Licensing Authority will seek to work actively with the Police, the 

Gambling Commission and other responsible authorities in enforcing gambling 
legislation. 

 
11.9 This Licensing Authority will continue to be a partner in the local licensing liaison 

group, andgroup and will keep itself informed of developments as regards to 
best practice in its consideration of the regulatory functions of local authorities. 

 
12.12 Complaints against a Licensed Premises 

 
12.1 12.1  The Licensing Authority will investigate relevant complaints against 

licensed premises of any description. In the first instance, complainants should 
raise the complaint directly with the licence holder or business concerned. All 
complaints will be investigated by the licensing department and enforcement 
action taken as deemed appropriate and proportionate to the findings and 
circumstances of each complaint. It is recognised that another agency may be 
the more appropriate body to investigate the complaint. In such circumstances, 
the Licensing Authority will maintain liaison with that agency. 

   
12.2 12.2  Where necessary, the Licensing Authority will initially arrange a meeting 

with the licence holder to address, clarify and try to resolve the issues of concern. 

 
12.3 12.3  This process will not override the right of any interested party or 

Responsible Authority to request a review of a licence by the Licensing 
Committee at any stage following the grant of a premises licence or if the 
particular concernsconcerns are not addressed in a way that fulfils the licensing 
objectives. 

 
13.13 Reviews 

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: C2, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: C1, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C1, Left,  No bullets or numbering

Page 89



 
 

Page 27 of 39  

 
13.1 13.1  Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 

parties or Responsible Authorities. However, it is for this Licensing Authority to 
decide whether the review is to be carried out.  This will be on the basis of 
whether the request for the review:- 

 
a) is relevant to the matters listed below 
b) is frivolous or vexatious 
c) will certainly not cause this authority to wish 

alter/revoke/suspend the licence 
d) is substantially the same as previous representations or 

requests for review.  
 

Relevant matters for a Review are where the grounds are: 
 

a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission 

b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission 

c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 
d) in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing 

policy. 13.2  
 

13.2 A premises licence may also be reviewed by the Licensing Authority of its own 
volition. 

 
13.3 13.2.  In determining what action, if any should be taken following a review, the 

Licensing Authority will have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the 
Act, as well as any relevant representations. 

 
14 14  Appeals 

 
14.1 14.1  Any party aggrieved by a decision of the Licensing Sub Committee and 

withstanding to appeal (as specified within the Act) may appeal against the 
decision to the local Magistrates Court. An appeal has tomust be started by the 
giving of a notice of appeal by the appellant to the ‘Magistrates’ Court within a 
period of 21 days from the day on which the appellant was notified by the 
Licensing Authority of the decision appealed against. This current local Court is 
St Albans Magistrates’ Court. 

 
14.2 14.2  The Licensing Authority will always be a respondent to the appeal, but in 

cases where a favourable decision has been made an applicant against the 
representations of a Responsible Authority or an interested party, the holder of 
the premises licence or club premises certificate will also be entitled to act as a 
respondent. 

 
14.3 On determining the appeal, the court may: 

a) dismiss the appeal 
b) substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision 

which could have been made by the Licensing Authority; or  
c) remit the case to the Licensing Authority to dispose of it in 

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C1, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Page 90



 
 

Page 28 of 39  

accordance with the direction of the court. 
 

14.4 14.4  The court may make such order as to costs as it thinks fit, butfit but will be 
required to bear in mind guidance and legislation about the awarding of costs 
against a public body. 

 
15 15   Delegation and Decision Making 

   
15.1 15.1  One of the major principles underlying the Gambling Act 2005 is that the 

licensing functions contained within the Act should be delegated to an 
appropriate level so as to ensure speedy, efficient and cost- effective service 
delivery. 

 
 15.2  This Licensing Authority is committed to the principle of delegating its 

powers to ensure that these objectives are met and has arranged for its licensing 
functions to be discharged in accordance with the Guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State, the Council’s Constitution and procedures laid down for good 
governance. The scheme of delegation can be found in the Council’s 
Constitution, which is available on the website. 

  

 16   Covid – 19, Coronavirus regulations 

  

 16.1  All gambling premises must adhere to the most recent guidance passed 
down by the Government. Failure to do so may result in further action being 
taken against the premises licence.  

  

 16.2  All premises applications must be accompanied by a risk assessment and 
how staff and the public will be kept safe. 

  

 16.3  Staff must undertake training in relation to infection control and how to 
safeguard themselves and the public. This must be logged on the individual staff 
training record. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C1, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: Left:  0 cm, First line:  0 cm

Commented [MR3]: No long relevant? 

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm

Formatted: C2, Left, Indent: First line:  0 cm, Tab stops:

Not at  2.22 cm +  3.49 cm +  4.76 cm +  6.03 cm

Page 91



 
 

Page 29 of 39  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

15.2  

 
 

  

Page 92



 
 

Page 30 of 39  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 APPENDIX 1 

List of Consultees 
 

- The Chief Officer of Police of Hertfordshire Constabulary 
- Bodies representing businesses in and residents in the area 

- Bodies representing the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses 
within Three Rivers District Council 

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  1.48 cm, Tab stops: Not at

 2.22 cm +  3.49 cm +  4.76 cm +  6.03 cm

Commented [MR4]: Have you checked these are all 
still relevant 

Page 93



 
 

Page 31 of 39  

Bodies representing the interested persons who are likely to be affected by the 
exercise of the authority’s function under this Act 

- Bodies dealing with Mental Health issues  
- Citizens Advice Bureau 
- Gamblers Anonymous 
- The Gambling Commission  
- GamCare 
- Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
- Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
- The local health and safety authority 
- Local Primary Care Trusts 
- HM Customs and Excise 
-  
- Deputy Service Manager HCNS 
- Armed Forces Community Lead 
- Herts Help Hospital & Community Navigation Service 

 
 
Residents Associations 

- Bricket Wood Residents' Association 
- Bridle Lane and Wagon Way Residents’ Association 
- Carpenders Park Residents’ Association 
- Chandlers Cross Residents’ Association 
- Chorleywood and District Residents’ Association 
- The Croxley Green Residents’ Association 
- Eastbury Residents’ Association 
- Furtherfield Residents’ Association 
- Gypsy Lane Residents' Group 
- Heronsgate Residents’ Association 
- Little Green Residents’ Association 
- Loudwater Residents’ Association 
- Oxhey Hall Residents’ Association 
- Rickmansworth and District Residents’ Association 
- Windmill Drive Residents Association 

 
Local Authority Representations  

- Environmental Health Residential Standards Team, Three Rivers District Council 
- Head of Development Management, Planning Dept, Three Rivers District Council 

 
Local Chambers of Trade 

- Watford Chamber of Commerce 
- Rickmansworth Chamber of Business 
- Hertfordshire Chamber of Commerce 

 
All Three Rivers District Councillors 
 
Parish Councils 

- Abbots Langley Parish Council 
- Batchworth Community Council 
- Chorleywood Parish Council 
- Croxley Green Parish Council 
- Batchworth Community Council 

 
Local Authorities within the Hertfordshire District 

- Other Councils, including Aylesbury Vale DC, Buckinghamshire County Council, 
Chiltern and South Bucks DC, Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans and District 
Council Watford Borough Council, and Wycombe DC 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Custom

Color(RGB(32,31,30))

Formatted: Font: (Default) Aptos, Not Bold, Font color:

Auto

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Custom

Color(RGB(32,31,30))

Formatted: Font: (Default) Aptos, Not Bold, Font color:

Auto

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Custom

Color(RGB(32,31,30))

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1

+ Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Indent at:  1.27 cm, Pattern:

Clear, Tab stops:  2.22 cm, Left +  3.49 cm, Left +  4.76

cm, Left +  6.03 cm, Left

Formatted: Font: (Default) Aptos

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 94



 
 

Page 32 of 39  

 
National Trade Associations 

- The Bingo Association 
- British Beer and Pub Association 
- Association of British Bookmakers 
- Business in Sport and Leisure 
- Racecourse Association Limited 
- British Amusement Catering Trade Association  
- The National Casino Industry Forum 
- British Holiday & Home Parks Association 
- The Greyhound Board of Great Britain 
- The British Association of Leisure Parks, Piers & Attractions Ltd 

 
Note: This list is not intended to be exclusive. Comments and observations will be 
welcome from anyone who will be affected by the policy. 
 

Copies of the draft Gambling Statement of Principles is available at the Council office 
and on the Council’s website. 
 
National Trade Associations 
 

- The Bingo Association 
- British Beer and Pub Association 
- Association of British Bookmakers 
- Business in Sport and Leisure 
- Racecourse Association Limited 
- British Amusement Catering Trade Association  
- The National Casino Industry Forum 

 
Note: This list is not intended to be exclusive. Comments and observations will be 
welcome from anyone who will be affected by the policy. 
 
Copies of the draft Gambling Statement of Principles were also placed in the public 
libraries of the Three Rivers District Council area as well as beingare available at the 
Council offices and on the Council’s website. 
  

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Page 95



 
 

Page 33 of 39  

Appendix 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Machine Category 

Premises Type A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 

Large Casino 
(Machine/table ratio of 
5-1 up to maximum) 

 Maximum if 150 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A), 

within the total limit of 150 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Small Casino 
(machine/table ratio of 
2-1 up to maximum) 

 Maximum of 80 Machines 
Any combination of machine in category B to D (except B3A), 

within the total limit of 80 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Pre-2005 Act Casinos 
(no machine/table 

ratio) 

 
Maximum of 20 Machines categories B to D (except B3A) or any 

number C to D machines instead 

Betting premises and 
tracks occupied by 

Pool Betting 

 

 Maximum of 4 machines categorised B2 to D (except B3A) 

Bingo Premises    Maximum of 20% of the total 
number of machines which are 

available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or B4** 

No Limit C or D 
machines 

Adult Gaming Centres    Maximum of 20% of the total 
number of machines which are 

available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or B4** 

No Limit C or D 
machines 

Family entertainment 
centres (with premises 

licence) 

     No limit on 
category C and D 

machines 

Family entertainment 
centres (with permit) 

      No limit on 
category D 
machines 

Club or miners’ welfare 
institutes with permits 

    Maximum of 3 machines in categories 
B3A or B4 to D* 

Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises with 

gaming machine 
permit 

     Number of 
category C or D 

machines as 
specified on permit 

Travelling Fair       No limit on 
category D 
machines  

 A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 

Page 96



 
 

Page 34 of 39  

APPENDIX 3 
TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS 

MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH FULL 
COUNCIL 

LICENSING COMMITTEE / 
SUB-COMMITTEE 

OFFICERS 

Three year licensing policy X   

Policy not to permit casinos X   

Fee Setting - when appropriate  X  

Application for premises 
licences  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Application for a variation to a 
licence  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Application for a transfer of a 
licence  

Where representations have 
been received from the 
Commission 

Where no representations 
received from the 
Commission 

Application for a provisional 
statement  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Review of a premises licence  X  

Application for club gaming 
/club machine permits in excess 
of the 2 permitted 

 
Where an application is for in 
excess of 4 machines. 

Up to 4 machines 

Cancellation of club gaming/ 
club machine permits 

 X  

Applications for other permits   X 

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits 

  X 

Consideration of temporary use 
notice 

  X 

Decision to give a counter-
notice to a temporary use 
notice 

 X  

 
  

Page 97



 
 

Page 35 of 39  

APPENDIX 4 
LC15/06      PROJECT INITIATION DOCUMENT UPDATE – GAMBLING ACT 2005 TO 

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL ADOPTION OF THE STATEMENT OF 
LICENSING POLICY 

 
                    The Committee received a report on implementing the Gambling Act 2005 

and, as part of that, to confirm the Statement of Licensing Policy and to 
recommend adoption by Council. 

 
The Chief Environmental Health Officer reported that the Council were on 
schedule to meet the timetable for adoption of the Statement of Licensing 
Policy by December.  Members noted that 10 responses had been received 
following the consultation – three from trade organisations, three from 
Residents’ Associations and four from individuals. There had been seven 
“No” votes for a casino within the District and therefore Council would be 
asked to endorse this as policy and include it in the Statement of Licensing 
Policy.  It was noted that an additional response from Eastern Region Faith 
Council had been received urging the Council to consider a no casino policy. 

                    Councillor Richard Laval, seconded by Councillor Joy Mann, moved an 
amendment to the recommendation, that due to the low response to the 
consultation the recommendation to Council be that that the Council do not 
adopt a no casino policy and that any application received be assessed on 
its individual merits. 
Councillor Francis Durham was against the amendment and recommended 
that the Council be asked to adopt a no casino policy.  He said that the 
consultation responses, which were unanimously in favour of a no casino 
policy, should be respected, even though the response was very low. 
  The Committee reviewed the draft statement of licensing policy and made 
the following amendments: 
 
Under Statement of Principles (Page 3 & 4, Section 2, Paragraph 3) to read 
“A consultation took place” and take out the sentence starting “The full list” 
and the remaining text in that section; 
Under Interested Parties (Page 5, Section 5, Paragraph 6, Line 3) take out 
the word “likely”; 
Under Interested Parties (Page 5, Section 5, Paragraph 7, Line 3) take out 
“www”; 
Under Enforcement (Page 6, Section 7, Paragraph 7) keep the paragraph 
that reads “The authority recognises”. 
Part B under Premises Licences, General Principles (Page 7, Paragraph 3) 
paragraph references to be amended; 
Under Betting Machines (Page 9, Paragraph 9) retain this paragraph in the 
policy; 
Under Door supervisors (page 10, paragraph 3) retain the paragraph that 
reads “there is no evidence……and proportionate.” 
Under type of premises section 4 – Casinos (page 11) add “Those who 
responded to the consultation were in favour of a “no casino policy”; 
Under Part C section 2 – license premises gaming machines permits (page 
14) paragraphs in bold to be deleted; 
Under Part C, Section 4 – page 15 first paragraph to add “community 
centres”; 
 
Members noted that if the Committee was minded to recommend to Council 
a no casino policy the Council would not be able to consider any applications 
received for casino licences. 
 

Commented [MR5]: This was only if a casino 
resolution was passed, it should not be in our policy. It 
was removed in 2021. 

Page 98



 
 

Page 36 of 39  

Councillor Martin Trevett stated that the Committee should accept the 
response of the consultation even though it had been very low. 
 
On being put to the Committee the amendment to RECOMMEND AGAINST 
a no casino resolution was TIED vote the voting being 3 For, 3 Against and 
1 Abstention.  The Chairman used his casting vote and voted against the 
proposal making the voting 3 For, 4 Against and 1 Abstention. 

 
                     RECOMMENDED: 
 

(1)       that a No Casinos policy be adopted and that this be included in the 
Statement of Licensing Policy for premises; 

 
(2)       that the final Statement of Licensing Policy (copy attached) be 

adopted; 
 
(3)       that the matter of fees in relation to the Gambling Act be delegated 

to the Licensing Committee to determine when they are made 
available from the DCMS; and 

 
(4)       that subject to the awaited regulations, the matter of small lottery 

registration be delegated to the Licensing Committee. 
 

                     RESOLVED: 
(1)       that progress on the implementation of the Project Initiation 

Document be noted; 
 
(2)       that members noted the comments in Appendix 1 following the 

consultation on the draft Statement of Licensing Policy and 
determined that the changes outlined in the minutes be incorporated 
into the final document; 

 
(3)       that members noted the result of the consultation was in favour of a 

No-Casino policy for the district (Section 166) and that this be 
included in the Statement of Licensing Policy; and 

 
(4)       that members noted that a training programme for the processing of 

applications under the Gambling Act is being developed and will be 
implemented within the timescale identified in the Project Initiation 
Document. 

 

Followed by Council Meeting of dd/mm/YYY: 
 
CL42/06       RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
                     Councillor Chris Brearley moved approval and adoption of the Regulatory 

Services Committee recommendations contained within Minute LC15/06 
(Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Licensing Policy –(No Casinos). 

 
                     RESOLVED:- that the recommendations of the Licensing Committee listed 

above be agreed. 
  

Commented [LF6]: Date to be entered 

Page 99



 
 

Page 37 of 39  

APPENDIX 45 
DATE ACTION 

 

Autumn 2005 Establishment of Gambling Commission  

May 2006 Guidance for Local Authorities published 

May 2006 Local Authorities to draft Licensing Policy Statement for Consultation 

December 2006 Licencing Policy Statement published 

February 2007 Local Authorities accept licensing applications 

1st September 2007 Full implementation 

December 2009 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2010 

December 2012 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2013 

December 2015 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2016 

December 2018 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2019 

October 2021 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2022 

JuneMay 2024 Draft Licensing Policy Statement for Consultation 

October 2024 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2025? 

 

Page 100



 
 

Page 38 of 39  

agreed. way in which the Council  

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Three Rivers District Council 
 

Date: January 2025 to January 2028 

Statement of principles 
 
 

UNDER SECTION 349 OF THE GAMBLING ACT 2005 

Page 103



 
 

Page 1 of 35  

Contents 

Item Page 

Contents 1 

Executive Summary 2 

Three Rivers District Council Boundary 4 

1. Statement of Principles 5 

2. Licensing Objectives 5 

3. Responsible Authorities 7 

4. Interested Parties 8 

5. Exchange of information  9 

6. Licensing Authority Functions 9 

7. Premises Licences 11 

8. Local Risk Assessment 11 

8.4 Location 11 

8.5 Duplication with other regulatory regimes 12 

8.6 Conditions 12 

8.7 Door Supervisors 13 

8.8 Multiple Premises Licences 14 

8.9 Adult Gaming Centres 14 

8.10 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 15 

8.11 Casinos 15 

8.12 Bingo Premises 16 

8.13.Betting Premises  16 

8.14 Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBT’s) 16 

8.15 Tracks 17 

8.16 Travelling fairs 18 

9. Provisional Statements  18 

10. Permits / Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 18 

10.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 19 

10.2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 19 

10.3 Prize Gaming Permits  20 

10.4 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 21 

10.5 Temporary Use  22 

10.6 Occasional Use  22 

10.7 Small Society Lotteries  22 

11. Enforcement 23 

12. Complaints Against a Licensed Premises 24 

13. Reviews  24 

14. Appeals 25 

15. Delegation and Decision Making  25 

Appendix 1 – List of consultees 26 

Appendix 2 – Gaming Machines maximum stakes and payouts 28 

Appendix 3 – Table of delegated functions 39 

Appendix 4 – Statement of principles log 30 

Page 104



 
 

Page 2 of 35  

Statement of Principles (Gambling Act 2005) 2025-2028 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

The Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) introduced a new regime for regulating gambling and betting 
throughout the United Kingdom from 1 September 2017. Section 349 of the Act imposes a 
statutory duty upon licensing authorities to publish a Statement of Principles which they propose 
to apply when exercising their functions under the Act. The Gambling Commission guidance has 
since been updated from April 2021.  
 
The Act places a legal duty on both the Gambling Commission and licensing authorities to aim to 
permit gambling, in so far as it is considered to be reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives. The effect of this duty is that both the Commission and licensing authorities 
must approach their functions in a way that seeks to regulate gambling by using their powers, for 
example, powers to attach conditions to licences, to moderate its impact on the licensing 
objectives rather than by starting out to prevent it altogether.  
 
Three Rivers District Council must have regard to the Licensing Objectives namely:  
 

a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime;  

b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way;  

c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.  

 
It should be noted that this policy will not override the right of any person to make an application, 
make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence. Each application is 
determined on its own merits in accordance with the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 
2005.  
 
The Responsible Authorities must be consulted upon receipt of an application for or variation of a 
premises licence under the Act.  
 
Enforcement principles of the Licensing Authority are guided by the Gambling Commission 
guidance. We therefore endeavour to be proportionate, accountable, consistent, transparent, and 
targeted.  
 
Declaration  
In producing this Statement, Three Rivers District Council declares that it has had regard to the 
licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, 
and any responses received from those consulted on the Statement.  
 
Representations  
Interested parties may make representations in respect of applications and they may apply for a 
review of an existing licence. An interested party includes those living sufficiently close to a 
premises likely to be affected, have business interests that may be affected or a person who 
represents either of these types of people. Councillors and MPs may also be classed as interested 
parties.  
 
Applications and representations referred to a Licensing Sub-Committee for determination will be 
published in reports which are publicly available in accordance with legislation.  
 
Gaming Machines  
In relation to category C (or above) gaming machines on premises in which children are admitted, 
the authority will ensure that the machines are located in a separated area to which only adults 
are admitted and that access to this area is supervised. Notices indicating the restricted age 
access are expected to be displayed.  
 
Alcohol licensed premises are automatically entitled to have 2 gaming machines of category C 
and/or D however the Licensing Authority needs to be notified. In certain circumstances the 
Licensing Authority may remove this entitlement.  
 
Betting Machines  Page 105



 
 

Page 3 of 35  

There is no evidence that betting machines (not gaming machines) give concern to regulatory 
matters however the Licensing Authority reserves the right to limit the number, nature and 
circumstances of these machines where there is evidence that their use may infringe the licensing 
objectives.  
 
Provisional Statements  
Following grant of a provisional statement, no further representations may be made from relevant 
authorities or interested parties unless they concern additional matters not previously considered 
within the provisional statement or concern the applicants change in circumstances.  
 
Premises  
Premises Licences are subject to mandatory and default conditions as per the requirements of the 
Act. The Licensing Authority may exclude default conditions and attach others where appropriate. 
Conditions must be proportionate and relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable 
as a gambling facility, directly related to the premises and type of licence applied for, fairly and 
reasonably related to the scale and type of premises and reasonable in all other aspects.  
 
Applications for a premises in which there are or would be multiple licences for a premises will be 
carefully considered to ensure different parts of the premises are not compromised and are 
separate so that people do not accidently enter the gambling area. The location of a premises will 
only be considered in terms of the licensing objectives.  
 
The Licensing Authority will avoid duplication with other statutory regimes and only consider 
concerns about conditions not being met due to restrictions in place by other regimes.  
 
There are several types of licensed premises, but Three Rivers District currently only has licensed 
Betting Premises. Children are prohibited from these premises.  
 
Door Supervisors  
To achieve the licensing objectives, the Licensing Authority reserves the right to consider the use 
of door supervisors in certain circumstances.  
 
Reviews  
Reviews can be called by interested parties or Responsible Authorities but ultimately the Licensing 
Authority determines whether the review is to be carried out. In determination, the Licensing 
Authority will consider whether a review is frivolous or vexatious, will certainly not cause the 
Authority to alter, revoke or suspend a licence and will consider if the review is substantially the 
same as previous requests for a review. Grounds for a review would be those in accordance with 
relevant guidance or codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission, those consistent with 
the licensing objectives and statement of licensing policy.  
 
The Licensing Authority may initiate a review of a licence for any other appropriate reason.  
 
In cases of unlicensed premises, it is possible to hold licensed activities under temporary use 
notices and occasional use notices, but these are subject to statutory limitations. 

 
  

Page 106



 
 

Page 4 of 35  

Three Rivers District Council Boundary 

 
Three Rivers District Council is situated in the county of Hertfordshire, which contains 13 
district Councils in total.  
 
Three Rivers District covers an area spanning approximately 34 square miles, and has 
approximately 93,800 residents (based upon Census data from 2021).  
 
The main populated areas in the district are Rickmansworth, Mill End and Maple Cross, 
Moor Park and parts of Northwood, Chorleywood, Croxley Green, Abbots Langley and 
South Oxhey/Carpenders Park. 
  

Page 107



 
 

Page 5 of 35  

1 Statement of Principles 

 
1.1 In accordance with statutory procedures, a review of this policy will take place 

every 3 years, to consider information collated over a period of time, coupled 
with the outcomes of initiatives relating to gambling at central and local 
government level. The policy may also be subject to minor amendments from 
time to time, for example, when there are changes to relevant legislation; when 
this is necessary, changes will be authorised by the head of Regulatory 
Services, in consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee. 

  
1.2 Nothing in this Statement of Principles will: 

a) Undermine the right or any person to apply under the Act for a variety 
of permissions and have the application considered on its own merits; 
or,  

b) Override the right of any person to make representations on any 
application or seek a review of a licence or permit where they are 
permitted to do so under the Act. 
 

1.3 The starting point in determining applications will be to grant the application with 
only mandatory and default conditions, so long as this can be achieved in a 
manner which is: 

a) In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission; 

b) In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

c) Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 
d) In accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principle. 

 

1.4 Licensing authorities are however, able to exclude default conditions and also 
attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate. It is appreciated that as per 
the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities “moral or ethical 
objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises 
licences” and, in addition to this, unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing 
authority. 

1.5 Three Rivers District Council has consulted widely upon this statement before 
finalising and publishing it. A full list of those consulted is at Appendix 1.  

 
1.6 The overriding principle is that all applications and the circumstances prevailing 

at each premises will be considered on its own individual merits. When applying 
these principles, the Licensing Authority will consider, in the light of relevant 
representations, whether exceptions should be made in any particular case. 

 
1.7 The final policy has been considered by Full Council and will be published on 

our Three Rivers District Council website, as well as being available in Three 
Rivers House, on request. 

 

2 Licensing objectives 

 

Page 108

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


 
 

Page 6 of 35  

2.1 Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives. With regard to these objectives, this Licensing Authority has 
considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities. 

 
2.2 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being used to support crime. 

 
2.3 This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be taking 

a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The 
Gambling Commission's Guidance does however envisage that licensing 
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this licensing objective. Thus, where an area has known high levels 
of crime this authority will consider carefully whether gambling premises are 
suitable to be located there and whether conditions may be suitable such as the 
provision of door supervisors.  This Licensing Authority is aware of the distinction 
between disorder and nuisance and will consider factors such as whether police 
assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who 
could see it, so as to make that distinction.  Issues of nuisance cannot be 
addressed via the Gambling Act provisions. 

 
2.4 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. 

 
 This Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated 

that it would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with 
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. This will be 
addressed via operating and personal licences.   

 
 
2.5 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling 

 
 This Licensing Authority has noted that this objective means preventing children 

from taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling 
products are not aimed at, or are particularly attractive to, children).  The 
Licensing Authority will therefore consider whether specific measures are 
required at premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate 
measures may include supervision of entrances/machines, segregation of areas 
etc.  

 
 When determining an application to grant a premises licence or review a 

premises licence, regard will be taken to the proximity of the premises to 
schools, vulnerable adult centres or residential areas where there may be a high 
concentration of families with children. The proximity of premises taken into 
consideration will vary depending on the size and scope of the gambling 
premises concerned. Each case will, however, be decided on its merits. 
Therefore, if an applicant can effectively demonstrate how they might overcome 
concerns relating to the licensing objectives, this will also be considered. 

 
 As regards the term “vulnerable persons”, this Licensing Authority will, for 

regulatory purposes, assume that this group includes people who: 

Page 109



 
 

Page 7 of 35  

 gamble more than they want to;  

 gamble beyond their means; and  

 may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.   

 
 This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing objective on a case-by-case 

basis.  

 
 This Licensing Authority will also make itself aware of the Codes of Practice that 

the Gambling Commission issues as regards this licensing objective, in relation 
to specific premises such as casinos.  

  
 This Licensing Authority will also ensure that, where category C or above [see 

Appendix 2 for an explanation of the categories] machines are on offer in 
premises to which children are admitted: 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier 
which is effective to prevent access other than through a designated 
entrance 

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are 
located 
access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can 
be observed by the staff or the licence holder; and 

 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

 
 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 

premises licences are applicable. 

 
 Betting Machines (machines on a shop floor where customer can place a bet 

without having to visit the counter, not to be confused with fixed odds betting 
machines or amusement with prizes machines). While the authority has 
discretion as to the number, nature and circumstances of the use of betting 
machines, there is no evidence that such machines give rise to regulatory 
concerns. This authority will consider limiting the number of machines only 
where there is clear evidence that such machines have been, or are likely to be, 
used in breach of the licensing objectives. Where there is such evidence this 
authority may consider, when reviewing the licence, the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of such machines from the counter. 

 
 This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than 

one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the 
track.  As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this Licensing Authority 
will consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure 
that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 
3 Responsible Authorities 

 Page 110



 
 

Page 8 of 35  

3.1 The responsible authorities, being public bodies to be notified of applications 
and who are entitled to make representations to the Licensing Authority pursuant 
to the licensing objectives, for the purposes of the Act are: 

1. The Gambling Commission  
2. Hertfordshire Constabulary 
3. Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
4. Head of Development Management, Planning Dept, Three Rivers 

District Council 
5. Environmental Health Residential Standards Team, Three Rivers 

District Council 
6. Enforcing Authority: Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
7. Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
8. HM Revenues and Customs 

 
Full contact details for the responsible authorities will be made 
available on the Council website at 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/services/licensing/gambling-licensing 

 
3.2 The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 

apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 
writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection 
of children from harm.  The principles are: 

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the 
whole of the Licensing Authority’s area; and 

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected 
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group. 

 
3.3 This authority designates the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board at 

Hertfordshire County Council for this purpose. 

 
4 Interested Parties 

 
4.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply 

for a review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in the Gambling 
Act 2005 as a person who: 

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 
affected by the authorised activities, 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) above.” 

 
4.2 The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 

apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are:   

 Each case will be decided upon its merits.  

 This Licensing Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision 
making.   

 This Licensing Authority will consider the examples of 
considerations concerning these matters provided in the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities but may 
not follow it in every case. 

 Page 111



 
 

Page 9 of 35  

4.3 Interested parties include trade associations and trade unions, and residents’ 
and tenants’ associations (Gambling Commission Guidance for local authorities 
8.17).  This Licensing Authority will not however generally view these bodies as 
interested parties at a Hearing unless they have a member who can be classed 
as an interested person under the terms of the Gambling Act 2005 (i.e. lives 
sufficiently close to the premises to be affected by the activities being applied 
for). 

 
4.4 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as 

Councillors and MPs.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an 
interested person will be required if the Councillor/MP represents the ward to be 
affected.  Likewise, parish councils to be affected will be considered to be 
interested parties.  Other than these however, this authority will generally require 
written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate / relative) ‘represents’ 
someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be affected by the 
authorised activities and/or has business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons, requesting the 
representation, is sufficient. 

 
4.5 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views 

then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the Licensing 
Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are any doubts then 
please contact the Lead Licensing Officer. 

 
4.6 A vexatious representation is generally taken to be one which is repetitive, 

without foundation or made for some other reason such as malice.  A frivolous 
representation is generally taken to be one that is lacking in seriousness, or is 
unrelated to the licensing objectives, guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission or this statement of licensing policy. 

 
5 Exchange of Information 

5.1 The principle that this Licensing Authority applies is that it will act in accordance 
with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information 
which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 will not be 
contravened.  The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission to local authorities on this matter when it 
is published, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State 
under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. Should any protocols be 
established as regards information exchange with other bodies then they will be 
made publicly available. 

 
5.2 Details of applications and representations which are referred to a Licensing 

sub-Committee for determination will be published in reports that are made 
publicly available in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000.  Personal details of people making 
representations will be disclosed to applicants and only be withheld from 
publication on the grounds of personal safety where the Licensing Authority is 
asked to do so. 

 
6 Licensing Authority functions 

Page 112



 
 

Page 10 of 35  

6.1 Three Rivers District Council has a duty under the Act to licence premises where 
gambling is to take place, and to license certain other activities.  

 
6.2  ‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in a 

lottery. In particular, the Licensing Authority is responsible for: 

a) the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take 
place by issuing Premises Licences; 

b) Issuing Provisional Statements; 
c) regulating members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes which 

wish to undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club 
Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine Permits; 

d) issuing Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs; 
e) granting permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming 

machines at unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres; 
f) receiving notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the 

Licensing Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines; 
g) issuing Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for 

premises licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the 
licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where there 
are more than two machines; 

h) registering small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds; 
i) issuing Prize Gaming Permits; 
j) receiving and Endorse Temporary Use Notices; 
k) receiving Occasional Use Notices; 
l) providing information to the Gambling Commission regarding 

details of licences issued (see section above on ‘information 
exchange’); 

m) maintaining registers of the permits and licences that are issued 
under these functions. 

 
6.3 It should be noted that local licensing authorities are not involved in licensing 

remote gambling (being where persons participate in gambling activities by use 
of remote communication such as the internet, telephone, television or other 
electronic facilitating communication) at all.  This will fall to the Gambling 
Commission via operating licences. 

 
6.4 The Gambling Commission is responsible for the regulation of gambling and 

betting except for National Lottery and spread betting through the licensing of 
the operators and individuals involved in providing gambling and betting 
facilities. 

  
6.5 In 2021 the Government increased the minimum age to play the National lottery 

to 18 years. 

  

Page 113



 
 

Page 11 of 35  

7 Premises Licences 

7.1 An application for a premises licence can only be made by a person or company 
who either holds an operating licence authorising him to carry on the activity in 
respect of which a premises licence is sought, OR has made an application for 
an operating licence which has not yet been determined.   

 
7.2 Applications for the grant, transfer or variation of a premises licence must be 

accompanied by an assessment that demonstrates how the applicant will 
promote all of the licensing objectives in the form of a written Operating 
Schedule. The applicant may ask the authority for advice as to the scope of 
information to be provided.  

 
7.3 The level of detail to be provided will be advised by the authority and will be 

proportional to the scale and nature of the application made. 

 
8 Local Risk Assessments 

8.1 From 6 April 2016 it is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), for licensees to assess the local risks 
to the licensing objectives posed by the provisions of gambling facilities at their 
premises, Licensees must have policies, procedures and control measures to 
mitigate risks that have been identified. In making risk assessments, licensees 
must take into account relevant matters identified in this policy. 

 
8.2 The LCCP goes on to say licensees must review (and update as necessary) 

their local risk assessments: 

 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, 
including those identified in this policy 

 there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may 
affect their mitigation of local risks 

 When applying for a variation of a premise licence and 

 In any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for 
a new premises licence. 

 
8.3 The Council will expect the local risk assessment to consider as a minimum: 

 Whether the premises is in an area of deprivation 

 Whether the premises is in and area subject to high levels of crime 
and/or disorder 

 The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups 

 The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 
toy shops, leisure centres and other areas where children will 
gather. 

 Significant presence of young children, both residents and visitors 

 High unemployment area 

 Nearby homeless hostels 

 Nearby gambling, alcohol, drug or mental health support facility 

 The area has a high number of rough sleepers/homeless people 
 

8.4 Location 

Page 114



 
 

Page 12 of 35  

 This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with 
regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the 
licensing objectives can. This authority will pay particular attention to the 
protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be 
decided upon as regards areas where gambling premises should not be located, 
this statement will be updated.  It should be noted that any such policy does not 
preclude any application being made and each application will be decided on its 
merits, with the onus upon the applicant to show how potential concerns can be 
overcome.   

 
8.5 Duplication with other regulatory regimes  

 This Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other 
statutory/regulatory systems where possible, including Planning.  This authority 
will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval.  It will listen to, and consider 
carefully, any concerns about conditions that cannot be met by licensees due to 
planning restrictions, should such a situation arise. 

 
8.6 Conditions  

 Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 

 
a) relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as 

a gambling facility; 
b) directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied 

for; 
c) fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; 

and 
d) reasonable in all other respects.  

 
 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 

although there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will 
consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc.  There are specific 
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below. This 
Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to ways in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively. 

 
 This licensing authority will also consider specific measures that may be required 

for buildings that are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may 
include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-
gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming machines 
in non-adult gambling specific premises to pursue the licensing objectives.  
These matters are in accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance. 

 
 This authority will also ensure that, where category C or above [see Appendix 2 

for an explanation of the categories] machines are on offer in premises to which 
children are admitted: 

a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier 

Page 115



 
 

Page 13 of 35  

which is effective to prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance; 

b) only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are 
located; 

c) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 
d) the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it 

can be observed by the staff or the licence holder; and 
e) at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 

displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

 
 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 

premises licences are applicable. 

 
 Betting Machines (machines on a shop floor where customer can place a bet 

without having to visit the counter) (not to be confused with fixed odds betting 
machines or amusement with prizes machines) - while the authority has 
discretion as to the number, nature and circumstances of the use of betting 
machines, there is no evidence that such machines give rise to regulatory 
concerns.  This authority will consider limiting the number of machines only 
where there is clear evidence that such machines have been, or are likely to be, 
used in breach of the licensing objectives.  Where there is such evidence this 
authority may consider, when reviewing the licence, the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of such machines from the counter. 

 
 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than 

one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the 
track.  As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will 
consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure 
that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 

 It is noted that there are conditions that the licensing authority cannot attach to 
premises licences which are: 

a) any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible 
to comply with an operating licence condition;  

b) conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or 
method of operation; 

c) conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be 
required (the Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the 
membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this 
provision prevents it being reinstated); and 

d) conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes. 
 

8.7 Door Supervisors  

 
 Consideration should be given whether there is a need for door supervisors in 

terms of the licensing objectives of protection of children and vulnerable persons 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in terms of preventing 
premises becoming a source of crime.  

 

Page 116



 
 

Page 14 of 35  

 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door 
supervisors for the protection of the public.  The authority will make a door 
supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading 
at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the 
counter and that door supervision is both necessary and proportionate. 

 
 It is noted though that in-house staff at casinos and bingo premises need not be 

licensed by the Security Industry Authority (SIA) although this would be 
preferable in helping meet the licensing objectives. Where operators and the 
Licensing Authority consider that supervision of entrances and machines is 
appropriate in particular cases, it will be decided whether these need to be SIA 
licensed on a case-by-case basis. 

 
8.8 Multiple Premises Licences  

 
 Premise is defined in the Act as “any place”, Different premises licences cannot 

apply in respect of a single premises at different times. However, it is possible 
for a single building to be subject to more than one premises licence, provided 
they are for different parts of the building and the different parts of the building 
can be reasonably regarded as being different premises. Whether different parts 
of a building can be properly regarded as being separate premises will always 
be a question of fact in the circumstances. However, the Gambling Commission 
does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily 
separate can be properly regarded as different premises. 

 

 In considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating 
to a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes, 
entrances and exits from parts of the building covered by one or more licences 
should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises 
is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. In this 
context it should normally be possible to access the premises without going 
through another licensed premises or premises with a permit. 

 
 The Licensing Authority will consider, amongst others, the factored outlined in 

the Gambling Commission guidance when deciding upon the extent of 
separation of licensable premises. In particular, due regard will be given to the 
specific requirements relating to entrances and exits to particular types of 
licensable premises. 

 
 It should be noted that a licence to use a remises for gambling should only be 

issued in relation to premises that the Licensing Authority can be satisfied are 
going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of the building or alterations required before the 
premises are brought into use. If the construction is not yet complete, or if they 
need alteration, or if the applicant does not yet have the right to occupy them, 
then an application for a provisional statement should be made instead. 

 
 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 

outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, applications will be 
determined on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process: 

Page 117



 
 

Page 15 of 35  

a) Whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for 
gambling; 

b) Whether appropriate conditions can be applied to the situation 
whereby the premises are not yet in the condition in which they 
ought to be before gambling can take place. 

 
 Applicants should note that the Licensing Authority is entitled to decide whether 

it is appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but is not obliged to grant 
such a licence. 

 
8.9 Adult Gaming Centres 

 

 There are currently no Adult Gaming Centres within the District. 

 Should this situation change then this Licensing Authority will expect applicants 
to offer their own measures to meet the licensing objectives. However, 
appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues such as: 

a) Proof of age schemes; 
b) CCTV; 
c) Supervision of entrances / machine areas; 
d) Physical separation of areas. 
e) Location of entry: 
f) Notices/signage 

g) Specific opening hours; 
h) Self-exclusion schemes on recommendation of police or families 
i) Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for 

organisations such as Gamcare. 
 

8.10  (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres: 

 
 There are currently no Family Entertainment Centres within the District. 

 
 Should this situation change then this Licensing Authority will have regard to the 

need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by 
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, that there will be 
sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the 
adult only gaming machine areas. 

 
 This Licensing Authority my consider measures to meet the licensing objectives 

such as  

a) CCTV; 
b) Proof of age schemes; 
c) Supervision of entrances / machine areas; 
d) Physical separation of areas; 
e) Location of entry; 
f) Notices / signage; 
g) Specific opening hours; 
h) Self-barring schemes; 
i) Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare; 
j) Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant 

Page 118



 
 

Page 16 of 35  

school children on the premises. 
 

 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

 
 This Licensing Authority will refer to the Commission’s website to see any 

conditions that apply to operating licences covering the way in which the area 
containing the category C machines should be delineated.  This Licensing 
Authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions on 
these premises licences, when they have been published.   

 
8.11 Casinos 

 
 Currently there are no casinos operating within the District. Section 166 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 enables a licensing authority to resolve not to issue casino 
licences. The previous resolution which was originally passed in October 2006 
was removed by the Council in 2021.  

 
 Should this licensing authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it 

will update this policy statement with details of that resolution. Any such decision 
will be made by the Full Council.  

 Notwithstanding the above, at present, no such resolution is necessary because 
the Act gives the licensing authority no power to issue casino licences in any 
event.  

8.12 Bingo Premises 

 
 There are currently no bingo premises within the District.  

 
 Should this situation change, the Gambling Commission Guidance states: 

 
 It is important that, if children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo, 

they do not participate in gambling, other than on category D machines.  Where 
category C or above machines are available in premises to which children are 
admitted, this Licensing Authority will ensure that: 

a) all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is 
effective to prevent access other than through a designated 
entrance 

b) only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located 
c) access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can 
be observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and at 
the entrance to, and inside, any such area there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 
 

 All current and future guidance by the Gambling Commission will also be taken 
into consideration when considering such applications. 

Page 119



 
 

Page 17 of 35  

 
8.13 Betting premises 

 
 This Licensing Authority will take into account the size of the premises, the 

number of counter positions available for person–to-person transactions, and 
the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when 
considering the number /nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator 
wants to offer. 

 This Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of 
premises within its area. In order to ensure that any compliance issues are 
recognised and resolved at the earliest stage, operator are requested to give the 
authority a single point of contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom 
the authority will contact should any compliance queries or issues arise. 

 
8.14 Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBT’s) 

  
 In respect to nationally expressed concerns that exist in relation to the potentially 

adverse impact FOBT’s may have on vulnerable groups of adults, the Licensing 
Authority will give due consideration to the need to apply conditions to betting 
shop premises licences including, but not limited to, setting out minimum staffing 
levels to ensure sufficient staff are on the premises to enable staff to 
comprehensively promote responsible gambling, adequately protect players, 
particularly in relation to players who are deemed to be vulnerable and to prevent 
under 18 year olds accessing gambling facilities. 

 
 The Licensing Authority expects FOBT’s to be positioned in such a way that they 

can be appropriately monitored by staff particularly where those staff are 
positioned at a counter away from the machines. In general the Licensing 
Authority is of the view that ‘privacy screens’ will hamper this and will expect the 
local area risk assessment to take this into account where applicants intend to 
construct such screens. Particular attention should be paid to the Gambling 
Commission’s Social Responsibility Codes in this regard.  Where an existing 
licensee adds ‘privacy screens’ a variation application will be required 

 
8.15 Tracks 

 
 A track is a site where races or other sporting events take place. There are 

currently no tracks within the district. Should this situation change tracks maybe 
subject to one or more than one premises licence, provided each licence relates 
to a specified area of the track. The Licensing Authority will especially consider 
the impact upon third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need 
to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children 
are excluded from the gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 
 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives 

such as; 

a) Plans of designated areas 

Page 120



 
 

Page 18 of 35  

b) Proof of age schemes 
c) CCTV 
d) Supervision of entrances / machine areas 
e) Physical separation of areas 
f) Location of entry 
g) Notices / signage 
h) Specific opening hours 
i) Self-exclusion schemes on recommendation of police or families 
j) Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare. Also, information on other 
diversionary leisure activities. 
 

 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

 
 Gaming Machines – Applications for track premises licences will need to 

demonstrate that, where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and 
is going to use his entitlement to four gaming machines, these machines are 
located in areas from which children are excluded. Children and young persons 
are not prohibited from playing category D gaming machines on a track. 

 
 Betting machines – Account will be taken of the size of the premises and ability 

of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is 
an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering 
the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to 
offer. 

 
 Condition on rules being displayed – The Gambling Commission has advised in 

its Guidance for local authorities that “…licensing authorities should attach a 
condition to track premises licences requiring the track operator to ensure that 
the rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other 
measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the public. For 
example, the rules could be printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet 
form from the track office”. 

 
 Applications and plans – Although the precise location of where betting facilities 

are provided is not required to be shown on track plans, applications should 
provide sufficient information so that the Licensing Authority can satisfy itself that 
the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place. In particular, 
betting rings must be indicated on the plan. In circumstances where are 
perimeter is not defined, for example in point-t-point racing where an entry fee 
is levied, temporary structures restricting access to the premises can be used. 

 
 This Licensing Authority also notes that in the Commissioner’s view, it would be 

preferable for all self-contained premises operated by off-course betting 
operators on track to be the subject of separate premises licences, to ensure 
that there is clarity between the respective responsibilities of the track operator 
and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the 
premises. 

 
 The Commissioner considers the track premises licence holders should accept 

some accountability for promoting socially responsible gambling on their 
Page 121



 
 

Page 19 of 35  

premises and that the level of responsibility should be commensurate with the 
volume and intensity of gambling that occurs on their premises. 

 
8.16 Travelling Fairs 

 
 This licensing authority will decide whether, where category D machines and/or 

equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at 
travelling fairs, the statutory requirement is met that the facilities for gambling 
amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met. 

 
 The Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 

statutory definition of a travelling fair. 

 
 It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as 

a fair, is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the 
fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs 
occupying the land. This licensing authority will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is monitored so 
that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 
9 Provisional Statements 

 
9.1 Following the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from 

relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless they 
concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances. In 
addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters: 

(a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional 
licence stage; or  

(b) which, in the authority’s opinion, reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances.  

 
9.2 This Licensing Authority noted the Commission’s Guidance that “a licensing 

authority will not take into account irrelevant matters, i.e. the likelihood of the 
applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval for the 
proposal”.  

 
10 Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 

 
10.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine permits  

 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide 
gaming machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for this permit.  It 
should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or 
mainly used for making gaming machines available for use. 

 

Page 122



 
 

Page 20 of 35  

 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a 
statement of principles that they propose to consider in determining the 
suitability of an applicant for a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or 
considering applications, it need not but may have regard to the licensing 
objectives and shall have regard to nay relevant guidance issued by the 
Commission. 

 An application for a permit may be granted only if the Licensing Authority is 
satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the chief 
officer of police has been consulted on the application. This Licensing Authority 
will ask applicants to demonstrate: 

 
a) a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the 

gambling that are permissible in unlicensed FECs; 
b) that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set 

out in Schedule 7 of the Act; and 
c) that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum 

stakes and prizes. (24.7)  
It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to 
this type of permit. 
 

 This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies 
and procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is 
not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures may include 
appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school 
children on the premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with 
unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing 
perceived problems on/around the premises. 

 
10.2  (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 

 
 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption 

on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines of categories C 
and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the Licensing Authority.  If the 
person ceases to be on- premises alcohol licence for the premises, the 
automatic entitlement two gaming machine also ceases. Whoever applies for 
the new premises alcohol licence will also need to apply under S282 (2), 
notifying the Licensing Authority of their intention to make the gaming machines 
available for use and paying the prescribed fee. If the alcohol licence ceases to 
have effect because it is suspended the gaming machines cannot be used. The 
licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any 
premises if:  

a) provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the 
pursuit of the licensing objectives 

b) gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a 
condition of section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written 
notice has been provided to the Licensing Authority, that a fee 
has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued 
by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of 
the machine has been complied with); 

c) the premises are mainly used for gaming;  
or 
 Page 123



 
 

Page 21 of 35  

d) an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the 
premises. 

 
 If an applicant wishes to have more than 2 machines, then they need to apply 

for a permit and the Licensing Authority must consider that application based 
upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such 
matters as they think relevant.”  This Licensing Authority considers that “such 
matters” will be decided on a case-by-case basis but generally there will be 
regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling.  We will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority 
that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under-18-year-olds do not 
have access to the adult-only gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the 
authority that there will be no access may include the adult machines being in 
sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not 
being used by those under 18.  Notices and signage may also help.  As regards 
the protection of vulnerable persons, applicants may wish to consider the 
provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. The Council’s Licensing Committee has delegated the issuing of a 
permit for up to 2 machines to the Lead Licensing Officer/Licensing Officer, with 
any application more than 2 to be subject to consideration by the Committee. 

 
 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises 

licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most 
likely need to be applied for and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises 
licence. 

 
 In such circumstances, the Licensing Authority can decide to grant the 

application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of 
machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be 
attached. 

 
 The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the 

Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine(s). 

 
10.3 Prize Gaming Permits  

 
 Applicants for these permits should set out the types of gaming that he or she is 

intending to demonstrate:  

a) that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set 
out in Regulations;  

b) the gaming offered is within the law; and 
c) clear policies that outline the steps taken to protect children from 

harm.  
 In determining an application for this permit, the Licensing Authority does not 

need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard 
to any Gambling Commission guidance. The Licensing Authority cannot attach 
conditions. 

 Permit holders must comply with the following conditions specified in the Act: 

a) the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be 

Page 124



 
 

Page 22 of 35  

complied with 
b) all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the 

premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day the 
game must be played and completed on the day the chances are 
allocated and the result of the game must be made public in the 
premises on the day that it is played 

c) the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the 
amount set out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed 
value (if non-monetary prize) and 

d) participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part 
in any other gambling.   
 

10.4 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 

 
 Members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may 

apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machines permit.  The Club 
Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance 
as set out in forthcoming regulations.  Members Clubs and Miner’s Welfare 
Institutes and Commercial Clubs may apply for a Club Machine Permit. A Club 
Gaming Machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines 
(3 machines of categories B, C or D). NB Commercial Clubs may not site 
category B3A gaming machines offering lottery games in their club. 

 
 Members clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and 

conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming unless the gaming 
is permitted by separate regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover bridge 
and whist clubs, which will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968. A 
Members club must be permanent in nature, not established to make 
commercial profit, and controlled by its members equally.  Examples include 
working men’s clubs, branches of the Royal British Legion and clubs with 
political affiliations.  

 
 Licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 

a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not 
entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied 

b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children 
and/or young persons 

c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been 
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities  

d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the 
previous ten years or   

e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.   
 

 There is a ‘fast track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold 
a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003. However, there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the 
grounds on which an Application may be refused are; 

a) that the Club is established primarily for gaming, other than 
gaming prescribed under schedule 12; 

b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides 
facilities for other gaming; or Page 125



 
 

Page 23 of 35  

c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the 
applicant in the last ten years has been cancelled.   
 

 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any 
relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of 
gaming machines. 

 
10.5 Temporary Use Notices 

 
 These allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no premises licence 

but where a person or company holding an operating licence wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  Currently this is 
restricted to the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming where the gaming 
is intended to produce a single winner, in essence, poker tournaments. The 
same set of premises may not be subject of a temporary use notice for more 
than 21 days in any 12-month period. There are also several statutory limits in 
relation to these notices. Notice must be given to the authority and other bodies, 
who may object to the grant of the notice having had regard to the licensing 
objectives. The definition of “a set of premises” will be a question of fact in the 
circumstances of each notice. In the Act “premises” is defined as including “any 
place”. In considering whether a place falls within the definition of “a set of 
premises”, the authority will need to consider, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises. The authority will take a strict 
view where it appears that the effect of the notices appears to permit regular 
gambling at a particular place.  

 
10.6 Occasional Use Notices 

 
 Occasional Use Notices refer specifically to betting at racetracks. The licensing 

authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring 
that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. This licensing 
authority will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant 
is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.   

 
10.7 Small Society Lotteries  

 
 This Licensing Authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards its 

enforcement responsibilities for small lotteries. This Licensing Authority 
considers that the following list, although not exclusive, could affect the risk of 
the operator: 

a) Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later 
than three months after the date on which the lottery draw was 
held) 

b) Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns 
c) Breaches of the limits for small society lotteries. 

 
 Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial event, 

either as an incidental or principal activity at the event. Events are non-
commercial if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain. The proceeds 
of such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is organised: 

Page 126



 
 

Page 24 of 35  

 
a) by, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes 
b) to enable participation in, or support of, sporting, athletic, or 

cultural activities.  
  
11 Enforcement  

 
11.1 This Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and will endeavour to be: 

a) Proportionate: we will only intervene when necessary and 
remedies will be appropriate to the risk posed 

b) Accountable:  we will justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny 

c) Consistent:  rules and standards will be joined up and 
implemented fairly 

d) Transparent:  we will be open, and keep regulations simple 
and user friendly and 

e) Targeted:  we will focus on the problem and minimise side 
effects.  
 

11.2 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities, this Licensing 
Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes as far 
as possible.   

 
11.3 This Licensing Authority will also adopt a risk-based inspection programme. The 

Gambling Commission Guidance suggests that the criteria the authority will 
utilise in this respect are included in this statement. However, the Local Better 
Regulation Office (responsible for co-ordinating regulatory functions) suggests 
that a planned intervention should only take place where the circumstances 
warrant such action. It is likely that a biannual inspection of licensed premises 
will be undertaken at the time of renewal of the premises licence. 

 
11.4 The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in terms 

of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the premises 
licences and other permissions which it authorises. The Gambling Commission 
will be the enforcement body for the operating and personal licences. It is also 
worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the Licensing Authority but will be notified to 
the Gambling Commission.   

 
11.5 This Statement proposes that a graduated response is taken where offences 

against gambling legislation are found or where licence conditions have been 
contravened. An isolated administrative offence, may be dealt with purely by 
way of written warning whilst more serious offences which have either been 
committed over a period of time or which have a significant impact upon the 
licensing objectives, may result in a referral for prosecution. 

 
11.6 Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this Licensing Authority’s 

enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon 
request to the Licensing Officer.  Our risk methodology will also be available 
upon request. 

Page 127



 
 

Page 25 of 35  

 
11.7 The Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers may have  several 

premises within its area. To ensure that any non-compliance is recognised and 
resolved at the earliest stage, operators are requested to give the authority a 
single named point of contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom the 
authority will contact first should there be any compliance queries or should any 
issues arise. 

 
11.8 The Licensing Authority will seek to work actively with the Police, the Gambling 

Commission and other responsible authorities in enforcing gambling legislation. 

 
11.9 This Licensing Authority will continue to be a partner in the local licensing liaison 

group and will keep itself informed of developments as regards to best practice 
in its consideration of the regulatory functions of local authorities. 

 
12 Complaints against a Licensed Premises 

 
12.1 The Licensing Authority will investigate relevant complaints against licensed 

premises of any description. In the first instance, complainants should raise the 
complaint directly with the licence holder or business concerned. All complaints 
will be investigated by the licensing department and enforcement action taken 
as deemed appropriate and proportionate to the findings and circumstances of 
each complaint. It is recognised that another agency may be the more 
appropriate body to investigate the complaint. In such circumstances, the 
Licensing Authority will maintain liaison with that agency. 

   
12.2 Where necessary, the Licensing Authority will initially arrange a meeting with the 

licence holder to address, clarify and try to resolve the issues of concern. 

 
12.3 This process will not override the right of any interested party or Responsible 

Authority to request a review of a licence by the Licensing Committee at any 
stage following the grant of a premises licence or if the concerns are not 
addressed in a way that fulfils the licensing objectives. 

 
13 Reviews 

 
13.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties 

or Responsible Authorities. However, it is for this Licensing Authority to decide 
whether the review is to be carried out.  This will be on the basis of whether the 
request for the review:- 

 
a) is relevant to the matters listed below 
b) is frivolous or vexatious 
c) will certainly not cause this authority to wish 

alter/revoke/suspend the licence 
d) is substantially the same as previous representations or 

requests for review.  
 

Relevant matters for a Review are where the grounds are: 

Page 128



 
 

Page 26 of 35  

 
a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 

Gambling Commission 
b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the 

Gambling Commission 
c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 
d) in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing 

policy. 13.2  
 

13.2 A premises licence may also be reviewed by the Licensing Authority of its own 
volition. 

 
13.3 In determining what action, if any should be taken following a review, the 

Licensing Authority will have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the 
Act, as well as any relevant representations. 

 
14 Appeals 

 
14.1 Any party aggrieved by a decision of the Licensing Sub Committee and 

withstanding to appeal (as specified within the Act) may appeal against the 
decision to the local Magistrates Court. An appeal must be started by the giving 
of a notice of appeal by the appellant to the ‘Magistrates’ Court within a period 
of 21 days from the day on which the appellant was notified by the Licensing 
Authority of the decision appealed against. This current local Court is St Albans 
Magistrates’ Court. 

14.2 The Licensing Authority will always be a respondent to the appeal, but in cases 
where a favourable decision has been made an applicant against the 
representations of a Responsible Authority or an interested party, the holder of 
the premises licence or club premises certificate will also be entitled to act as a 
respondent. 

 
14.3 On determining the appeal, the court may: 

a) dismiss the appeal 
b) substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision 

which could have been made by the Licensing Authority; or  
c) remit the case to the Licensing Authority to dispose of it in 

accordance with the direction of the court. 
 

14.4  The court may make such order as to costs as it thinks fit but will be 
required to bear in mind guidance and legislation about the awarding of costs 
against a public body. 

 
15 Delegation and Decision Making 

   
15.1 One of the major principles underlying the Gambling Act 2005 is that the 

licensing functions contained within the Act should be delegated to an 
appropriate level so as to ensure speedy, efficient and cost-effective service 
delivery. 

 

Page 129



 
 

Page 27 of 35  

15.2 This Licensing Authority is committed to the principle of delegating its powers to 
ensure that these objectives are met and has arranged for its licensing functions 
to be discharged in accordance with the Guidance issued by the Secretary of 
State, the Council’s Constitution and procedures laid down for good governance. 
The scheme of delegation can be found in the Council’s Constitution, which is 
available on the website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



 
 

Page 28 of 35  

 APPENDIX 1 
List of Consultees 
 

- The Chief Officer of Police of Hertfordshire Constabulary 
- Bodies representing businesses in and residents in the area 

- Bodies representing the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses 
within Three Rivers District Council 

Bodies representing the interested persons who are likely to be affected by the 
exercise of the authority’s function under this Act 

- Bodies dealing with Mental Health issues  
- Citizens Advice Bureau 
- Gamblers Anonymous 
- The Gambling Commission  
- GamCare 
- Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
- Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
- The local health and safety authority 
- Local Primary Care Trusts 
- HM Customs and Excise 

 
Residents Associations 

- Bricket Wood Residents' Association 
- Bridle Lane and Wagon Way Residents’ Association 
- Carpenders Park Residents’ Association 
- Chandlers Cross Residents’ Association 
- Chorleywood and District Residents’ Association 
- The Croxley Green Residents’ Association 
- Eastbury Residents’ Association 
- Furtherfield Residents’ Association 
- Gypsy Lane Residents' Group 
- Heronsgate Residents’ Association 
- Little Green Residents’ Association 
- Loudwater Residents’ Association 
- Oxhey Hall Residents’ Association 
- Rickmansworth and District Residents’ Association 
- Windmill Drive Residents Association 

 
Local Authority Representations  

- Environmental Health Residential Standards Team, Three Rivers District Council 
- Head of Development Management, Planning Dept, Three Rivers District Council 

 
Local Chambers of Trade 

- Watford Chamber of Commerce 
- Rickmansworth Chamber of Business 
- Hertfordshire Chamber of Commerce 

 
All Three Rivers District Councillors 
 
Parish Councils 

- Abbots Langley Parish Council 
- Batchworth Community Council 
- Chorleywood Parish Council 
- Croxley Green Parish Council 
- Batchworth Community Council 

 
Local Authorities within the Hertfordshire District Page 131



 
 

Page 29 of 35  

- Other Councils, including Aylesbury Vale DC, Buckinghamshire County Council, 
Chiltern and South Bucks DC, Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans and District 
Council Watford Borough Council, and Wycombe DC 

 
National Trade Associations 

- The Bingo Association 
- British Beer and Pub Association 
- Association of British Bookmakers 
- Business in Sport and Leisure 
- Racecourse Association Limited 
- British Amusement Catering Trade Association  
- The National Casino Industry Forum 
- British Holiday & Home Parks Association 
- The Greyhound Board of Great Britain 
- The British Association of Leisure Parks, Piers & Attractions Ltd 

 
Note: This list is not intended to be exclusive. Comments and observations will be 
welcome from anyone who will be affected by the policy. 
 

Copies of the draft Gambling Statement of Principles is available at the Council office 
and on the Council’s website. 
 
National Trade Associations 
 

- The Bingo Association 
- British Beer and Pub Association 
- Association of British Bookmakers 
- Business in Sport and Leisure 
- Racecourse Association Limited 
- British Amusement Catering Trade Association  
- The National Casino Industry Forum 

 
Note: This list is not intended to be exclusive. Comments and observations will be 
welcome from anyone who will be affected by the policy. 
 
Copies of the draft Gambling Statement of Principles are available at the Council offices 
and on the Council’s website. 
  

Page 132



 
 

Page 30 of 35  

Appendix 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 Machine Category 

Premises Type A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 

Large Casino 
(Machine/table ratio of 
5-1 up to maximum) 

 Maximum if 150 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A), 

within the total limit of 150 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Small Casino 
(machine/table ratio of 
2-1 up to maximum) 

 Maximum of 80 Machines 
Any combination of machine in category B to D (except B3A), 

within the total limit of 80 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Pre-2005 Act Casinos 
(no machine/table 

ratio) 

 
Maximum of 20 Machines categories B to D (except B3A) or any 

number C to D machines instead 

Betting premises and 
tracks occupied by 

Pool Betting 

 

 Maximum of 4 machines categorised B2 to D (except B3A) 

Bingo Premises    Maximum of 20% of the total 
number of machines which are 

available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or B4** 

No Limit C or D 
machines 

Adult Gaming Centres    Maximum of 20% of the total 
number of machines which are 

available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or B4** 

No Limit C or D 
machines 

Family entertainment 
centres (with premises 

licence) 

     No limit on 
category C and D 

machines 

Family entertainment 
centres (with permit) 

      No limit on 
category D 
machines 

Club or miners’ welfare 
institutes with permits 

    Maximum of 3 machines in categories 
B3A or B4 to D* 

Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises with 

gaming machine 
permit 

     Number of 
category C or D 

machines as 
specified on permit 

Travelling Fair       No limit on 
category D 
machines  

 A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 

Page 133



 
 

Page 31 of 35  

APPENDIX 3 
TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS 

MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH FULL 
COUNCIL 

LICENSING COMMITTEE / 
SUB-COMMITTEE 

OFFICERS 

Three year licensing policy X   

Policy not to permit casinos X   

Fee Setting - when appropriate  X  

Application for premises 
licences  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Application for a variation to a 
licence  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Application for a transfer of a 
licence  

Where representations have 
been received from the 
Commission 

Where no representations 
received from the 
Commission 

Application for a provisional 
statement  

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn 

Review of a premises licence  X  

Application for club gaming 
/club machine permits in excess 
of the 2 permitted 

 
Where an application is for in 
excess of 4 machines. 

Up to 4 machines 

Cancellation of club gaming/ 
club machine permits 

 X  

Applications for other permits   X 

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits 

  X 

Consideration of temporary use 
notice 

  X 

Decision to give a counter-
notice to a temporary use 
notice 

 X  

 
  

Page 134



 
 

Page 32 of 35  

APPENDIX 4 
DATE ACTION 

 

Autumn 2005 Establishment of Gambling Commission  

May 2006 Guidance for Local Authorities published 

May 2006 Local Authorities to draft Licensing Policy Statement for Consultation 

December 2006 Licencing Policy Statement published 

February 2007 Local Authorities accept licensing applications 

1st September 2007 Full implementation 

December 2009 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2010 

December 2012 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2013 

December 2015 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2016 

December 2018 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2019 

October 2021 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2022 

May 2024 Draft Licensing Policy Statement for Consultation 

October 2024 Reviewed statement came into effect January 2025? 

 

Page 135



 
 

Page 33 of 35  

agreed. way in which the Council  
Page 136



 
 

Page 34 of 35  

 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Statement of gambling 
licensing policy

 Victoria Square House, Victoria Square, 
Birmingham B2 4BP

Tel: 0121 230 6666  Fax: 0121 230 6720

www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk Published 03/2018

A councillor’s guide 
(England & Wales only)Making gambling fairer and safer

2155 GC QG3 for LH_Councillors_AW.indd   4-1 20/04/2018   16:54

P
age 139



There are 4 principles to inform a licensing authority as to how it carries out its duties:

► �our codes of practice that apply to licensed 
gambling operators and to pubs and clubs 

► �our Guidance to Licensing Authorities 

► �the licensing objectives above

► �Your own Statement.

There are three licensing objectives under the Act. Keeping crime out of gambling, 
ensuring it is fair and open and protecting children and other vulnerable people 
from being harmed by gambling. 

You should develop a ‘heat map’ or local 
area profile of your council area. Completion 
of a LAP is not a requirement but there 
are significant benefits for both the LA and 
businesses in having a better awareness of the 
local area and risks (both potential and actual). 

An effective LAP is likely to take account of 
a wide range of factors, data and information 
already held by the LA and its partners.  

Licence conditions and codes of practice 
(LCCP) issued by the Commission formalise 
the need for operators to consider local risks.

Social responsibility code 10.1.1 requires 
licensees to assess the local risks to the 
licensing objectives posed by the provision  
of gambling facilities at each of their premises, 
and have policies, procedures and control 
measures to mitigate those risks.  

In undertaking their risk assessments,  
they must take into account relevant  
matters identified in the LA’s Statement. 

A licensing authority can request that  
the licensee share a copy of its own  
risk assessment which will set out the 
measures the licensee has in place to  
address specific concerns.

The function of the Statement is to reflect locally 

specific gambling concerns and to reflect the 

Council’s wider strategic objectives. The active 

use of the Statement is one means by which you 

can make clear your expectations of gambling 

operators who have premises in your area. 

This allows operators to respond to locally 

specific requirements and adjust their own 

policies and procedures as required. It also 

reduces the risk of matters being escalated  

to a licensing committee.

It may well be the case that you receive very few, or no 

complaints about gambling. You are highly unlikely to do so. 

Unlike other regulated areas, such as alcohol or drugs, 

gambling is much less visible as a concern for residents. 

The problem gambler or the under 18 who gambles are  

very unlikely to contact you or the LA to complain.  

The nature of co-regulation requires both LAs and the 

Commission to engage in inspection and enforcement. 

Unless an LA proactively conducts inspections you will not know what the true compliance 

picture looks like. Critically, you have no means of knowing whether the necessary protections, 

especially for the young and vulnerable, are in place and working effectively.

Importantly, unless inspections and enforcement against illegality are conducted it unfairly penalises 

those who are compliant. 

The Statement

The Gambling Act 2005

Local area profile (LAP)

Gambling operators’ responsibilities

But we don’t get any complaints!

The Act specifies a list of responsible authorities with whom  
you must consult (s157). Along with those you’d expect such  
as police, you must include a body whose functions include  
the protection of children from harm. You might consider  
your Safeguarding Board. 

Another body which can also help to inform the strategic  
picture and approach as well as inform the local area  
profile (LAP) is Public Health. Given the range of  
co-morbidities associated with addictions it is likely  
that some of those presenting with one specific condition  
may be experiencing gambling-related harm as well.

Statement of gambling licensing policy – A Councillor’s Guide (England & Wales only)

Consult with responsible authorities

2155 GC QG3 for LH_Councillors_AW.indd   2-3 20/04/2018   16:54

P
age 140



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

No. 
Item to be 

considered 
Date of Next 
Meeting 

Purpose of the  
Report 

How the work will be 

done 

Responsible 

Officer 
Outcome Expected 

 

1. Gambling Policy  12 June 2024  Written report Lead Licensing 

Officer/Licensing 

Team Leader 

To consider any 

recommendations 

2. Licensing Act 2003 – 

Review of Statement 

of Licensing Policy 

2021-2026 

At a meeting in 

2025 – date TBC. 

 Written report Lead Licensing 

Officer/Licensing 

Team Leader 

To consider any 

recommendations 

 

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	5 Review of Gambling Policy ‘Statement of Principles 2025 to 2028’
	Review of Gambling Policy ‘Statement of Principles 2025 to 2028’ Short Equality Impact and Outcome Assessment
	Review of Gambling Policy ‘Statement of Principles 2025 to 2028’ Climate and SustainabilityImpact Assesment template
	Appendix A: Current Statement of Gambling Principles and Policy 2022-2025
	Appendix B_Changes made to Statement of Principles
	Appendix C: Clean version of draft Statement of Policy 2025-2028
	Appendix D: Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy – A Councillor’s guide

	6 Work programme

